
 

 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
10100 Pioneer Boulevard, Suite 200, Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670 

(562) 378-1604   FAX (562) 941-5835 
http://ems.dhs.lacounty.gov 

 
DATE:   May 20, 2020 
TIME:   1:00 – 3:00 PM 
LOCATION:  Zoom Video Conference Meeting 
   Join Zoom Meeting: 
   https://zoom.us/j/94618846720 
    
   Meeting ID: 946 1884 6720 
 

One tap mobile: 
 +16699009128,,94618846720# US (San Jose) 
 +12532158782,,94618846720# US (Tacoma) 

 
Dial by your location:  (Use any number) 
        +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose) 
        +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
        +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
        +1 646 558 8656 US (New York) 
       

The Commission meetings are open to the public.  You may address the 
Commission on any agenda item before or during consideration of that item, and on 
other items of interest which are not on the agenda, but which are within the 
subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission.  Public comment is limited to three 
(3) minutes and may be extended by Commission Chair as time permits. 
 
NOTE:  Please INPUT YOUR NAME if you would like to address the Commission. 
 

AGENDA 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER – John Hisserich, Dr.PH, Chairman 
Instructions for Zoom: 
1) Please use your computer to join the Zoom meeting to see documents. 

https://zoom.us/j/94618846720  
2) Join Zoom meeting by computer (preferable) or phone.  
3) Input your name when you first join so we know who you are. 
4) You can join Zoom by one tap mobile dialing. No password required.  
5) Join meeting by landline using any of the “dial by location” numbers and 

manually entering the Meeting ID and following # prompts.  
6) Mute and unmute yourself by clicking on the microphone icon at the 

bottom of computer screen, or *6 by phone. 
7) Volume is adjusted by using the little arrow next to the microphone icon. 

 
II. INTRODUCTIONS/ANNOUNCEMENTS/PRESENTATIONS 
     
III. CONSENT AGENDA (Commissioners/Public may request that an item be 

held for discussion.  All matters are approved by one motion unless held.) 
 

1. MINUTES 
 January 15, 2020 (March 18, 2020 Meeting Cancelled) 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

Hilda L. Solis 
First District 

Mark Ridley-Thomas 
Second District 
Sheila Kuehl 

Third District 
Janice Hahn 
Fourth District 

Kathryn Barger 
Fifth District 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

Lt. Brian S. Bixler 
Peace Officers Association of LA County 

Erick H. Cheung, M.D. 
Southern CA Psychiatric Society 

Chief Eugene Harris 
Los Angeles County Police Chiefs’ Assn. 
John Hisserich, Dr.PH., Chairman 

Public Member (3rd District) 
Lydia Lam, M.D. 

American College of Surgeons 
James Lott, PsyD., MBA 
Public Member (2nd District) 

Robert Ower, RN 
LA County Ambulance Association 

Margaret Peterson, Ph.D. 
Hospital Association of Southern CA 

Mr. Paul S. Rodriguez, Vice Chair 
CA State Firefighters’ Association 

Mr. Joseph Salas 
Public Member (1st District) 

Nerses Sanossian, MD, FAHA 
American Heart Association 

Western States Affiliate 
Carole A. Snyder, RN  

Emergency Nurses Association 
Atilla Uner, MD, MPH 

California Chapter-American College of 
Emergency Physicians (CAL-ACEP) 

Mr. Gary Washburn 
Public Member (5th District) 

Chief David White 
Los Angeles Area Fire Chiefs Association 

Mr. Pajmon Zarrineghbal 
Public Member (4th District) 

 
VACANT 

League of Calif. Cities/LA County Division 
LA County Medical Association 

Southern California Public Health Assn. 
 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Cathy Chidester 

(562) 378-1604 
CChidester@dhs.lacounty.gov 

 
COMMISSION LIAISON 

Denise Watson 
 (562) 378-1606 

DWatson@dhs.lacounty.gov 

http://ems.dhs.lacounty.gov/
https://zoom.us/j/94618846720
https://zoom.us/j/94618846720
mailto:CChidester@dhs.lacounty.gov
mailto:DWatson@dhs.lacounty.gov


EMS Commission  
May 20, 2020 
Page 2 
 

 
  
 

2. CORRESPONDENCE 
2.1 (01-02-2020) From EMS Authority: LA EMS Agency 2017-18 Children System Plan 

Approval 
2.2 (01-07-2020) Distribution: Fire Chief, Each Fire Department: Electronic Patient Care 

Report 
2.3 (01-07-2020) Emergency Department Closure of St. Vincent Medical Center 
2.4 (01-08-2020) Mark Gillaspie, Downey Fire: Approval: AutoPulse™ and ResQPOD® 
2.5 (01-08-2020) Chief Kurt Norwood, Sierra Madre Fire: Fentanyl Program Approval 
2.6 (01-08-2020) Xavier Espino, Long Beach Fire Chief: Approval: Intraosseous Infusion – 

Humeral Placement 
2.7 (01-08-2020) Andranik Bableyan, FirstMed Ambulance: TCP Program Approval 
2.8 (01-09-2020) From St. Vincent Medical Center:  Closure of St. Vincent Medical Center 
2.9 (01-13-2020) Margaret Pfeiffer, Interim CEO, St. Vincent:  Closure of St. Vincent 

Medical Center 
2.10 (01-14-2020) Distribution:  Prehospital Care Coordinator – Each Base Hospital:  

Prehospital Administration of Stroke Therapy-Trans Sodium Crocetinate (PHAST-TSC) 
Trial Study 

2.11 (01-19-2020) Tom McGinnis, EMS Authority: 2017/2018 EMS Plan for Los Angeles 
County EMS Agency 

2.12 (01-23-2020) Melissa Harris, AmbuServe Ambulance, Inc.: Kings LTS(D) Airway 
Program Approval for Specialty Care Transport 

2.13 (01-23-2020) Rick Fields, PRN Ambulance, Inc.: Kings LTS(D) Airway Program 
Approval for Specialty Care Transport 

2.14 (02-06-2020) Edward Mirzabegian, Antelope Valley Hospital: Delay of Patient 
Prehospital Transport 

2.15 (02-06-2020) Richard Allen, Palmdale Regional Medical Center: Delay of Patient 
Prehospital Transport 

2.16 (02-13-2020) Mildred Carlisle, Liberty Ambulance: King LTS(D) Airway Program 
Approval for Specialty Care Transport 

2.17 (02-28-2020) Clayton Kazan, MD, Los Angeles County Fire:  Telemedicine for Alternate 
Destination Pilot Project Approval 

2.18 (03-03-2020) Distribution: Sidewalk CPR Training Coordinators:  Sidewalk CPR Toolkit 
2.19 (03-05-2020) Daryn Dryum, Manhattan Beach Fire Chief:  Approval:  AutoPulse™  
2.20 (03-05-2020) Vincent Capelle, West Covina Fire Chief:  Approval:  Intraosseous 

Infusion – Humeral Placement 
2.21 (03-10-2020) Boris Krutonog, AMWest Ambulance:  CPAP Program Approval 
2.22 (03-10-2020) Paul Scarborough, Premier Medical Transport:  King LTS(D) Airway 

Program Approval for Specialty Care Transport 
2.23 (03-12-2020) From LA County Counsel to Susan Fanelli, California Department of 

Public Health:  Closure of St. Vincent Medical Center 
2.24 (03-19-2020) Distribution: 9-1-1 Dispatch Centers and Paramedic Provider 

Agencies: Screening Calls and Not Dispatching a Resource 
2.25 (03-19-2020) Distribution: Trauma Centers: Trauma Center Leadership COVID-

Update 
2.26 (03-23-2020) From Mark Eckstein, MD, Los Angeles City Fire:  Letter of Support 

Re: Telehealth Pilot 
2.27 (03-31-2020) Distribution: Hospital CEOs: USNS Mercy Patient Transfer Process 
2.28 (04-01-2020) Distribution List:  Change in SART Center Designation 
2.29 (04-02-2020) Distribution: Fire Department Chiefs, Public and Private Provider 

Medical Directors, Private Ambulance Company CEOs, Public and Private Sector 
Nurse Educators:  Process for Acquiring Positive COVID-19 Results of an EMS 
Transported Patient 



EMS Commission  
May 20, 2020 
Page 3 
 

 
  
 

2.30 (04-03-2020) Rick Fields, PRN Ambulance, Inc.: EMT Local Optional Scope Program 
Approval 

2.31 (04-06-2020) Distribution: Receiving Hospitals, Base Hospitals, Fire Departments, 
Ambulance Operators, EMS Providers:  COVID-19 Update #7: EMS Handoffs 

2.32 (04-06-2020) Distribution:  Receiving Hospital CEOs and Emergency Department 
Medical Directors:  Hydroxychloroquine Sulfate Availability 

2.33 (04-07-2020) Distribution: Receiving Hospitals, Base Hospitals, Fire Departments, 
Ambulance Operators, EMS Providers:  COVID-19 Update #8: Los Angeles 
County EMS Agency Approvals for Alternate Destinations (ADs) 

2.34 (04-07-2020) Distribution List:  Temporary Closure of Perinatal Services – PIH 
Health Hospital – Downey 

2.35 (04-08-2020) From EMS Authority: Response to LA County’s Request for Extension to 
Submit Annual Maddy Fund Report  

 
3. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

3.1 Base Hospital Advisory Committee (February 12, 2020) 
3.2 Data Advisory Committee (April 8, 2020 Meeting Cancelled) 
3.3 Provider Agency Advisory Committee (February 19, 2020) 

 
4. POLICIES 

4.1 Reference No. 506:  Trauma Triage 
4.2 Reference No. 506.2:  9-1-1 Trauma Re-Triage 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 

 
 
IV. BUSINESS 

BUSINESS (OLD) 
5.1 Prehospital Care of Mental Health and Substance Abuse Emergencies 
5.2 Ambulance Patient Offload Time (APOT) 
5.3 Criteria for 9-1-1 Receiving Center Designation (Reference No. 302 Attached) 

 
BUSINESS (NEW) 
5.4 Update to Commission on EMS Agency Activities related to Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
5.5 LA County COVID-19 Modeling  
5.6 EMS Personnel Administering Vaccinations  

 
V. COMMISSIONERS’ COMMENTS / REQUESTS 
 
VI. LEGISLATION 
 
VII. EMS DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT 

To the meeting of July 15, 2020 
 
 
 

 



 

 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
10100 Pioneer Boulevard, Suite 200, Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670 

(562) 378-1604   FAX (562) 941-5835 
http://ems.dhs.lacounty.gov/ 

 
MINUTES  

JANUARY 15, 2020 

    (Ab) = Absent; (*) = Excused Absence 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER: 
The Emergency Medical Services Commission (EMSC) meeting was held in the 
EMSC Hearing Room at 10100 Pioneer Boulevard, Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670, 
and was called to order at 1:10 p.m. by Chairman John Hisserich.  A quorum was 
present with 12 Commissioners in attendance.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Hilda L. Solis 

First District 
Mark Ridley-Thomas 

Second District 
Sheila Kuehl 

Third District 
Janice Hahn 
Fourth District 

Kathryn Barger 
Fifth District 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

Lt. Brian S. Bixler 
Peace Officers Association of LA County 

Erick H. Cheung, MD 
Southern CA Psychiatric Society 

Chief Eugene Harris 
Los Angeles County Police Chiefs’ Assn. 
John Hisserich, DrPH, Chairman 

Public Member (3rd District) 
Lydia Lam, MD 

American College of Surgeons 
James Lott, PsyD., MBA 
Public Member (2nd District) 

Mr. Robert Ower 
LA County Ambulance Association 

Margaret Peterson, PhD 
Hospital Association of Southern CA 

Mr. Paul S. Rodriguez 
CA State Firefighters’ Association 
Mr. Joseph Salas, Vice-Chair 

Public Member (1st District) 
Nerses Sanossian, MD, FAHA 

American Heart Association 
Western States Affiliate 

Carole A. Snyder, RN  
Emergency Nurses Association  

Atilla Uner, MD, MPH 
California Chapter-American College of 

Emergency Physicians (CAL-ACEP) 
Mr. Gary Washburn 

Public Member (5th District) 
Chief David White 

Los Angeles Area Fire Chiefs Association 
Mr. Pajmon Zarrineghbal 

Public Member (4th District) 
 

VACANT 
League of Calif. Cities/LA County Division 

LA County Medical Association 
Southern California Public Health Assn. 

 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Cathy Chidester 
(562) 378-1604 

CChidester@dhs.lacounty.gov 
 

COMMISSION LIAISON 
Denise Watson 
 (562) 378-1606 

DWatson@dhs.lacounty.gov 

COMMISSIONERS ORGANIZATION EMS AGENCY 
STAFF 

POSITION 

☐  Vacant So. CA Public Health Assn. Cathy Chidester Executive Director 

☒  Lt. Brian S. Bixler Peace Officers’ Assn. of LAC Denise Watson Commission Liaison 

☒  Erick H. Cheung, M.D.   
 

So. CA Psychiatric Society Richard Tadeo Assistant Director 

☐  Vacant L.A. County Medical Assn. Kay Fruhwirth Assistant Director 

☒  Chief Eugene Harris  LAC Police Chiefs’ Assn. Nichole Bosson Asst. Medical Director 

☒  John Hisserich, Dr.PH  Public Member, 3rd District Natalia Alvarez EMS Staff  

☒  Lydia Lam, M.D. So. CA Chapter American 
College of Surgeons 

Saranya Srinivasan EMS Staff  

☐  (Ab) James Lott, MBA  Public Member, 2nd District  Christine Clare EMS Staff 

☒  Robert Ower   LAC Ambulance Association  Sara Rasnake EMS Staff 
 

☐ (*) Margaret Peterson,PhD  Hospital Assn. of So. CA Jacqui Rifenburg EMS Staff 
 

☒  Paul S. Rodriguez  CA State Firefighters’ Assn. Joel Mendoza EMS Staff 

☒  Joseph Salas  
 

Public Member, 1st District 
 

Adrian Romero EMS Staff 
 

☒  Nerses Sanossian, M.D. 
 

American Heart Association  John Telmos EMS Staff 

☒  Carole Snyder  Emergency Nurses Assn. David Wells EMS Staff 

☐  Vacant League of CA Cities/LAC 
 

Lorrie Perez EMS Staff  

☐  (*) Atilla Uner, M.D. American College of 
Emergency Physicians    
CAL-ACEP 
 

  
 
  

☒   Gary Washburn Public Member, 5th District 
 

  

☒  David White L.A. Area Fire Chiefs’ Assn. 
 

   

☐  (Ab) Pajmon Zarrineghbal Public Member, 4th District 
 

  

 
GUESTS 

    

Clayton Kazan LA County Fire Department  Shelly Trites Torrance Memorial 

Jaime Garcia Hospital Assn. Southern Cal. Jeffrey Rollman So.Cal.Pub.Hlth.Assn. 

Jennifer Nulty Torrance Fire Department Diego Caivano LA County Med.Assn. 
Richard Roman Compton Fire Department   

Roxanna Yoonessi-Martin LA County Medical Assn.   

      
 

    

http://ems.dhs.lacounty.gov/
mailto:CChidester@dhs.lacounty.gov
mailto:DWatson@dhs.lacounty.gov


MINUTES 
EMS Commission 
January 15, 2020 

 

2 

 

 
  
 

II. INTRODUCTIONS/ANNOUNCEMENTS/PRESENTATIONS: 
Self-introductions were made starting with EMSC members followed by Emergency Medical 
Services (EMS) Agency staff and guests.   
 
III. CONSENT AGENDA: 
Chairman John Hisserich, Dr.PH., called for approval of the Consent Agenda. 
 

Motion/Second by Commissioners Bixler/Cheung to approve the Consent Agenda was 
carried unanimously. 
 
1. MINUTES 

November 20, 2019 Minutes were approved. 
 

2. CORRESPONDENCE  
Executive Director Cathy Chidester reported on Correspondence:   

 

3. COMMITTEE REPORTS 
3.1 Base Hospital Advisory Committee  
3.2 Data Advisory Committee – Dark  
3.3 Provider Agency Advisory Committee 

2.1 (11-07-2019) Letter From Los Angeles County Ambulance Association, Inc.:  Request 
to Update Ambulance Ordinance 7.16 

 
The Los Angeles County Ambulance Association is requesting an update on an outstanding 
draft ordinance section 7.16 for ambulance licensing.  The draft ordinance is in process, but 
has complex overlapping issues with the Treasurer and Tax Collector (TTC).  This is pending 
further discussion with County Counsel and meetings with the TTC.   
 

2.2 (11-12-2019) Dave Duncan, MD, EMS Authority:  Request for Proposal for Emergency 
Ambulance Transportation Services 9-1-1 Response for the City of Monrovia, 
Exclusive Operating Area Two 

 
The EMS Agency is requesting the California State Emergency Medical Services Authority 
(EMSA) review the Request for Proposal (RFP) for emergency ambulance service in EOA2.  
 

2.3 (12-15-2019) Lisa Galindo, EMS Agency Rancho Cordova:  EMS Plan Addendum 
(Fiscal Year 2017-2018) 

 
2.4 (12-24-2019) Matt Armstrong, LACAA:  Response to Ambulance Ordinance Inquiry 
 

2.5 (12-31-2019) Distribution:  EMS Update 2020 Train-the-Trainer (Revised) 
 

2.6 (01-02-2020) Letter From EMS Authority:  LA EMSC Plan Approval  
 

The EMS Authority reviewed and approved the EMS for Children System Plan. 
 
The EMS Agency is waiting for EMS Authority approval for the recently submitted EMS 
Agency Plan and a draft policy that would change the patient destination policy to allow 
triage to alternate destinations, specifically to approved sobering and psychiatric centers. In 
a January 19, 2020 letter, the EMS Agency addressed EMSA inquiries about the level, 
amount and types of education the paramedics would receive. 
 



MINUTES 
EMS Commission 
January 15, 2020 

 

3 

 

 
  
 

 
4. POLICIES 

4.1 Policy No. 320:  ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction (STEMI) Receiving Center (SRC)            
     Standards 

4.2 Policy No. 320.3:  SRC Performance Measures 
4.3 Policy No. 418:  Authorization and Classification of EMS Aircraft 
4.4 Policy No. 702:  Controlled Drugs Carried on ALS Units  

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 

 

 
IV. BUSINESS: 
 

BUSINESS (OLD) 
5.1    Prehospital Care of Mental Health and Substance Abuse Emergencies 

Commissioner Cheung reported on an EMS Commission project to develop dispatch 
and triage protocols that would divert low-acuity 9-1-1 calls into law enforcement 
dispatch to the Didi Hirsch Suicide Prevention Hotline for triage and disposition, and 
noted the project is on hold due to funding issues related to the LA County Department 
of Mental Health (DMH).  It is believed the program would safely decrease the number 
of incidents that law enforcement responds to while still providing mental health and 
substance abuse callers with appropriate and timely treatment. The EMSC and District 
Attorney Jackie Lacey are in support of this project.  Commissioner Cheung and 
Commissioner Bixler will follow up. 
 
Ms. Chidester reported on recent participation in a meeting with law enforcement, the 
fire department, sheriffs’ and DMH, at the request of Dr. Jonathan Sherin, DMH 
Director, to discuss using DMH clinicians and DMH’s therapeutic transport vans when 
dispatching mental health and substance abuse calls.  The discussion addressed the 
overlapping of services and resources, and how best to utilize them given that 
resources are limited.  Subsequently, she met with Supervisor Janice Hahn’s office of 
the LA County Board of Supervisors (Board) and they are working on a motion for 
assessing what type of system issues exist in this area.  One idea from these meetings 
was to have an advisory committee to DMH, and hopefully this will become part of the 
Board’s motion. 
 

5.2 Ambulance Patient Offload Time (APOT) 
Richard Tadeo, EMS Agency Assistant Director, reported on APOT data, and noted 
no significant changes anticipated until fourth quarter.   
 

 5.3 Criteria for 9-1-1 Receiving Center Designation 
Ms. Chidester reported the EMS Agency has a policy for designation of 9-1-1 
Receiving Hospitals; and, in a prior EMSC discussion on psychiatric patients held in 
the emergency departments (ED), it was asked if this policy can be updated to reflect 
some best practices including adding psychiatrists to the ED call panel.  The policy will 
be sent to the Commissioners and will be discussed further at the next EMSC meeting. 
 

 5.4 Nominating Committee – Nominations 
Commissioner Snyder reported on the Nominating Committee conference call, which 
included herself, Commissioner Peterson, Commissioner Sanossian, and 
Commission Liaison Denise Watson.  The Committee’s nominations for 2020 were:  



MINUTES 
EMS Commission 
January 15, 2020 

 

4 

 

 
  
 

John Hisserich as Chairman, and Paul Rodriguez as Vice Chair.  The floor was open 
for discussion. No additional nominations were made. 
Motion/Second by Commissioners Salas/Bixler to approve the Nominating 
Committee Nominations was carried unanimously. 
 

BUSINESS (NEW) 
None. 
  
COMMISSIONERS’ COMMENTS/REQUESTS:  
Commissioner Sanossian reported that the International Stroke Conference will be held at 
the Los Angeles Convention Center on February 19-21, 2020, and there will be a 
presentation of data from the LA County EMS database. 
 

VI. LEGISLATION: 
Ms. Chidester reported there has been no legislative action, and no lists have been 
generated.  Ms. Chidester and Jaime Garcia of HASC reported on a seismic safety, 
standards-compliance bill by Senator Portantino, SB 758.  
 

VII.    DIRECTOR’S REPORT: 
Ms. Chidester reported St. Vincent’s Hospital is in the process of closing their emergency 
department, and the EMS Agency stopped ambulance traffic on Wednesday, January 8, 
2020.  Because the closure was not planned, but was the result of buyer fallout, the sudden 
decision to close does not require a public hearing by the EMSC; however, the EMS Agency 
is required to prepare an Impact Report to be submitted to the Board of Supervisors. Good 
Samaritan Hospital will be admitting the patients from St. Vincent’s, and the majority of the 
9-1-1 transports.   
 
Community Hospital Long Beach will reopen and will be given until 2025 for seismic 
compliance.  They have not opened yet as they are waiting for the Office of Statewide Health 
Planning and Development (OSHPD) and licensing approval.  The EMS Agency committed 
to opening them up to 9-1-1 traffic as soon as possible once they reopen. 
 
The Paul George Buddy Foundation donated Clipper basketball tickets to the paramedics 
and EMTs of the Los Angeles County Fire Department, specifically for EMS personnel in 
the Palmdale area. They will also be donating Paul George Shadow Buddies to LA County 
Fire and LA City Fire to distribute to children whose parent or family member may be ill and 
calls 9-1-1. 
 
Dr. Nicole Bosson, EMS Agency Assistant Medical Director, reported on flu season activity 
noting that Influenza B incidents are high, deaths are on the rise as well as the number of 
flu patients, and Public Health is encouraging people to get vaccinated.   
 
Dr. Bosson updated the Commission on a few projects:   
 
PHAST-TSC is the trial of Trans Sodium Crocetinate (TSC) to be administered for acute 
stroke in the field, and targets 120 patients over 18 months.  The study has full approval and 
will begin with Culver City Fire and UCLA Medical Center to roll out on January 20, 2020. 
 
The extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) project is targeted at refractory 
ventricular fibrillation, out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients.  Arrive Alive was the initial 
quality improvement project with LA County Fire in June 2018, which expanded the program 
to include USC Medical Center.  This allows for routing to various ECMO centers, to be able 



MINUTES 
EMS Commission 
January 15, 2020 

 

5 

 

 
  
 

to identify and route appropriate patients, and to capture a larger patient population with 
access to full data collection.  Currently, UCLA and USC are approved for ECMO and the 
project is awaiting final approval of Cedars which is anticipated by March 2020. 
 
Some discussion ensued on epinephrine dosing and benefits. 
 
Ms. Chidester welcomed the new EMS Commission members, and thanked departing 
Commissioners for their active participation and work in the Commission. 
 

VIII. ADJOURNMENT: 
 Adjournment by Chairman Hisserich at 2:17 pm to the next meeting of March 18, 2020. 

 
Next Meeting: Wednesday, March 18, 2020  

EMS Agency 
10100 Pioneer Boulevard 
1st Floor Hearing Room 128 
Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670  

 
 
 
 
 
Recorded by: 
Denise Watson 
Secretary, Health Services Commission 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lobbyist Registration:  Any person or entity who seeks support or endorsement from the EMS Commission on official action must 
certify that they are familiar with the requirements of Ordinance No. 93-0031.  Persons not in compliance with the requirements of the 
Ordinance shall be denied the right to address the Commission for such period of time as the non-compliance exists. 



 

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES COMMISSION 

10100 Pioneer Boulevard, Suite 200, Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670 
(562) 378-1604   FAX (562) 941-5835 

http://ems.dhs.lacounty.gov/ 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

NEXT MEETING:  MAY 20, 2020, 1:00 PM 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lobbyist Registration:  Any person or entity who seeks support or endorsement from the EMS 
Commission on official action must certify that they are familiar with the requirements of 
Ordinance No. 93-0031.  Persons not in compliance with the requirements of the Ordinance shall 
be denied the right to address the Commission for such periods of time as the noncompliance 
exists.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Hilda L. Solis 

First District 
Mark Ridley-Thomas 

Second District 
Sheila Kuehl 

Third District 
Janice Hahn 
Fourth District 

Kathryn Barger 
Fifth District 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

Lt. Brian S. Bixler 
Peace Officers Association of LA County 

Erick H. Cheung, M.D. 
Southern CA Psychiatric Society 

Chief Eugene Harris 
Los Angeles County Police Chiefs Assn. 
John Hisserich, Dr. PH., Chairman 

Public Member (3rd District) 
Lydia Lam, M.D. 

American College of Surgeons 
James Lott, PsyD., MBA 
Public Member (2nd District) 

Mr. Robert Ower 
LA County Ambulance Association 

Margaret Peterson, Ph.D. 
Hospital Association of Southern CA 

Mr. Paul S. Rodriguez, Vice Chair 
CA. State Firefighters’ Association 

Mr. Jeffrey Rollman 
Southern California Public Health Assn. 

Mr. Joseph Salas 
Public Member (1st District) 

Nerses Sanossian, MD, FAHA 
American Heart Association 

Western States Affiliate 
Carole A. Snyder, RN  

Emergency Nurses Association 
Atilla Uner, MD, MPH 

California Chapter-American College of 
Emergency Physicians (CAL-ACEP) 

Mr. Gary Washburn 
Public Member (5th District) 

Chief David White 
Los Angeles Area Fire Chiefs Association 

Mr. Pajmon Zarrineghbal 
Public Member (4th District) 

 
VACANT 

League of Calif. Cities/LA County Division 
LA County Medical Association 

 
Cathy Chidester 
 Executive Director 

(562) 378-1604 
CChidester@dhs.lacounty.gov 

 
Denise Watson 

Commission Liaison 
 (562) 378-1606 

DWatson@dhs.lacounty.gov 
 

DATE:  MARCH 18, 2020 – CANCELLED 
TIME: 1:00 – 3:00 PM 
LOCATION: Los Angeles County Emergency Medical Services Agency  

10100 Pioneer Boulevard, EMSC Hearing Room – 1st Floor 
Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670 

 
                                                                      
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Commission meetings are open to the public.  You may address the 
Commission on any agenda item before or during consideration of that 
item, and on other items of interest which are not on the agenda, but 
which are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission.  
Public comment is limited to three (3) minutes and may be extended by 
Commission Chair as time permits. 
 
 

http://ems.dhs.lacounty.gov/
mailto:CChidester@dhs.lacounty.gov
mailto:DWatson@dhs.lacounty.gov


2.1 CORRESPONDENCE



2.2 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.3 CORRESPONDENCE

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.4 CORRESPONDENCE

e527421
Typewritten Text



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.5 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.6 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.7 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.8 CORRESPONDENCE

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text





e527421
Typewritten Text
2.9 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.10 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.11 CORRESPONDENCE









e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text
2.12 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.13 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.14 CORRESPONDENCE







e527421
Typewritten Text
2.15 CORRESPONDENCE







e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text
2.16 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.17 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.18 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.19 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.20 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.21 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.22 CORRESPONDENCE



o~~Q~ COUNTY QF LOS ANGELES
~ ~} OFFICE OF THE COUNTY COUNSEL~. ~~U c!►

~y, ~ .~

~ ~~ `~ ~',~ tl~~~ ~" 648 KENNETH HAHN HALL OF ADMINISTRATION.~.
500 WEST TEMPLE STREET

~"~4t~~aR~IP LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90012-2713

MARY C. WICKHAM
County Counsel March 12, 2420

Susan Fanelli
Director/State Public Health Officer
California Department of Public Health
P.O. Box 997377 MS 500
Sacramento, California 95899-7377

Re: Closure of St. Vincent Medical Center
Address

Dear Ms. Fanelli:

TELEPHONE

(213) 974-1925

FACSIMILE

(213) 680-2165

TDD

(213) 633-0901
E-MAIL

bchu@counsel.lacounty, gov

I am general counsel who represents the Los Angeles County Department
of Health Services Emergency Medical Services Agency ("LAEMSA").

Verity Health Systems of California ("Verity"), the owner of St. Vincent
Medical Center ("SVH"), located at 2131 West 3rd Street, Los Angeles,
California, informed LAEMSA on January 6, 2020 that it would be closing SVH~
within 30 days. This is to advise you that LAEMSA does not believe that
California Health and Safety Code (H&S) section 1300 applies to the court-
ordered closure of SVH and, therefore, that the County of Los Angeles will not be
submitting an Impact Evaluation Report ("IER") to the Department of Public
Health (DPH).

As you know, Verity filed a Chapter 7 bankruptcy petition on August 31,
2018, under which it undertook a sale of its assets, including SVH. The
anticipated sale of SVH by December 27, 2019 did not materialize.
Consequently, Verity sought and received an emergency order from the
United States Bankruptcy Court on January 9, 2020, under which it was
authorized to close SVH in its entirety within 30 days of its order. As of this date,
SVH is permanently closed. For your reference, I have attached a copy of the
January 9, 2020 Order that authorized SVH's closure.

Under normal circumstances, LAEMSA wou.l d be required under H&S
Section 1300 to serve notice and conduct apre-closure public hearing within the

HOA.102816564.1

e527421
Typewritten Text
2.23 CORRESPONDENCE



Ms. Susan Fanelli
March 12, 2020
Page 2

co~rununity served by the hospital. Under the County's policy, the Board of
Supervisors would approve an IER prepared. by LAEMSA and authorize its
transmittal to DPH. ~Iowever, the Bankruptcy Court's Order makes clear that
Verity's assets are under the jurisdiction of the U.S. Bankruptcy statutes and that
state statutes, i.e., H&S Section 1300, do not apply where the sale of SVI~ is
contemplated and authorized by the Court. f

Although SV~I is closed, please be assured that LAEMSA has mitigated
the impact on the surrounding community by ensuring that the hospitals within
the fire-mile radius were adequately notified of the closure so that they could
prepare to absorb the modest impact (SV~I operated eight ED beds) to their EDs.
Currently, the bulk of the emergency room ~iszts have been absorbed by Good
Samaritan Hospital, who reports no significant i~su~~ .rising in the past 2 months.
LAEI~~ISA will continue to monitor the medical services activity of the
community formerly served by S~TI~ to ensure that adequate resources are
available.

Should you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to
contact me.

Very truly yours,

MARY C . WICx:.~~AM
County Counsel

By
BRIAN T. CHU
Principal Deputy County Counsel
Health Services Division

I'

c: Cathy Chidester
Department of ~-Iealth Services
Emergency Medical Services Agency

Enclosure

HOA.102816564.1



Case 2:18-bk-24151-ER Doe 3933 FIIP~ n~ /nal~n ~►,t~r~~ n~ ~n~~~n ~ ~ •~~•~d r~~~~
Main Docur~ ~c~ ~~ t"dl~C 1 UI ~ Docket #3933 Date Filed: 1/9/2020

_ _
~ILEa & E~1TER~D

~ ~ ~

CLERK U.S. BANFCRUPTCY COURT
C~nfiral District of California
BY gonzalez DEPUTY CLERK

UNITED STATES BANI~;RUPTCY COURT

In re: Verity Health System of California, Inc., et
al., Lead Case No.: 2:18-bk-20151-ER

Chapter: 11Debtors and Debtors in Possession.
~ Affects All Debtors

❑ Affects Verity Health System of California, Inc.
D Affects O'Connor Hospital
❑ Affects Saint Louise Regional Hospital
❑ Affects St. Francis Medical Center
❑ Affects St. Vincent Medical Center
❑ Affects Seton Medical Center
❑ Affects O'Connor Hospital Foundation
❑ Affects Saint Louise Regional Hospital Foundation
❑ Af~'ects St. Francis Medical Center of Lynwood
Medical Foundation

❑ Affects 5t. Vincent Foundation
❑ Affects St. Vincent Dialysis Center, Inc.
❑ Affects Seton Medical Center Foundation
❑ Affects Verity Business Services
O Affects Verity Medical Foundation
O Affects Verity Holdings, LLC
❑ Affects De Paul Ventures, LLC
❑ Affects De Paul Ventures -San Jose Dialysis, LLC

Debtors and Debtors in Possession.,

Jointly Administered With:
Case No. 2:18-bk-20162-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-2013-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20164-ER;
Case I'~To. 2:18-bk-201b5-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20167-ER;
Case Nc~. ~:1 ~-hk-20168-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20169-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20171-ER;
Case No, 2:18-bk-20172-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20173-ER;
Case Igo. 2:18-bk-20175-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20176-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20178-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20179-ER;
Case No. 2:18-bk-20180-ER;
Case No.2:18-bk-20181-ER;

Chapter 11 Cases.

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION GRANTII~IG
DEBTCIRS' EMERGEI'~TCY MOTION FOR
AUTHORIZATION TO CLtJSE ST. VINCENT
MEDICAL CENTER

[RELATES TO DOC. NO.3946]

Date: January 8, 2020

Time: 10:00 a.m.

Location: ~*.:xn.1568
Roybal Federal Building
255 East Temple Street
Los Angeles, CA 90012

1 i/ 1•ii1i1/1111



Before the Court is the Debtors' emergency motion (the "Motion") for authorization to
implement a plan to close St. Vincent Medical Center and St. Vincent Dial~sls Center, Inc.
(collectively, "St. Vincent"). The Court conducted a hearing on the Motion at the above-
captioned date and time. Because the Motion was heard on an emergency basis, the Court
allowed parties who had not filed a written opposition to the Motion to present arguments at the
hearing.l For the reasons set forth below, the Motion is GRANTED.

I. Facts
On August 31, 2018 {the "Petition Date"), Verity Health System of California ("VHS") and

certain of its subsidiaries {collectively, the "Debtors") filed voluntary petitions for relief under
Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors' cases are being jointly administered.

As of the Petition Date, the Debtors operated six acute care hospitals in the state of
California. On December 27, 2018, the Court authorized the Debtors to sell two of their
hospitals O'Connor Hospital and Saint Louise Regional Hospital to Santa Clara County (the
"Santa Clara Sale").2 The Santa Clara Sale closed on Febr~~.~~ 28, 2019.

On February 19, 201 ~, the Court entered an order establishing bidding procedures, (the
"Bidding Procedures Order")~ far the auction of the Debtors' four remainin hos itals St.g p
Francis Medical Center ("St. Francis"), St. ~Tincent Medical Center {including St. Vincent
Dialysis Center) ("St. Vincent"), Seton Medical Center ("Seton"), and Seton Medical Center
Coastside ("Seton Coastside") (collectively, the "Hospitals"). Under the Bidding Procedures
Order, Strategic Global Management ("SGM")~ was designated as the stalking horse bidder.

1 In addition to the oral presentations made at the hearing, the Court considered the following
papers in adjudicating the Motion:

1) Debtors' Emergency Motion for Authorization to Close fit. Vincent Medical Center
(the "Motion") [Doc. No. 3906];
a) Order Setting I-~earrng on Debtors' Emergency Motion for Authorization to Close

St. Vincent Medical Center [Doc. No. 3907];
b) Natice of Hearing on Debtors' Emergency Motion for Authorization to Close St.

Vincent Medical Center [Doc. No. 3~0~];
c) Declaration of Service by Kurtzman Carson Consultants, LLB Regarding Docket
Numbers 39Q6, 3907 and 3909 [Doc. No. 3913];

2) Opposition by California Nurses Association to Debtors' Emergency Motion for
Authorization to dose St. Vincent Medical Center Doc. No~ 3914];

3) Opposition to Emergency Motion Filed by Marc Girsky, M.D., Chief of Staff of Str
Vincent Medical Center [Doc. No. 3916]; and

4) Opposition to Emergency Motion Filed by Samuel K. Lee [Doc. No. 3926].
2 For a description of the Santa Clara Sale, see In ~e Verity Health Sys. of Califot~nia, Inc., 598
B.R. 283 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 2018) (" Ve~^ity 1").
3 See Order (1) Approving Form of Asset Purchase Agreement for Stalking Horse Bidder and for
Prospective Overbidders, (2) Approving Auction Sale Format, Bidding Procedures and Stalking
Horse Bid Protections, (3) Approving Form of Notice To Be Provided to Interested Parties, (4)
Scheduling a Court Hearing to Consider Approval of the Sale to the ~Iighest Bidder and (5)
Approving Procedures Related to. the Assumption of Certain Executory Contracts and Unexpired
Leases; and (II) An CJrder (A) Authorizing the Sale of Property Frei and Clear of All Claims,
Liens and Encumbrances [Doc. No. 1572] .



Case 2:18-bk-20151-ER Doc 3933 Filed 01/09/20 Entered 41/09/20 11:53:24 Desc
Main Document Page 3 of 9

SGM's bid for all four of the I~ospitals was $610 million. The Bidding Procedures order
approved an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "APA") between the Debtors and SGM.

The ~Iospitals were extensively marketed by the Debtors' investment banker, Cain Brothers,
a division of KeyBank Capital Markets, Inc. ("Cain Brothers"). Cain Brothers notified ninety
parties of the auction process. Sixteen of these parties requested continued access to a data room
containing information about the ~-Iospitals.

Notwithstanding fain Brothers' thorough marketing e~~~~ s, the Debtors did not receive any
qualified bids for all of the Hospitals. The Debtors received ane bid to purchase only St. Vincent
and ane bid to purchase only St. Francis. After consulting with the Official Committee of
Unsecured Creditors (the "Committee") and the largest secured creditors, the Debtors determined
not to conduct an auction. On May 2, 2019, the Court entered an order finding that S GM was the
v~inning bidder and approving the sale to SCM (the "SGM Sale"}.4

On November 27, 2019, the Court entered a memorandum of decision and accompanying
order Ending that as of November 19, 2419, all conditions precedent under the APA to SGM's
obligation to close .the SGM Sale had been satls~ed.s The. Court found that pursuant to § 1.3 of
the APA, SGM was obligated to close the SGM Sale by no later than December 5, 2019. Id.
SCM did not close the sale by December 5, 2019.6 tJn December 27, 2019, the Debtors sent
SGM a notice terminating the APA and asserting that SGM had materially breached the APA.7

The Debtors seek authorization to implement a plan to close St. Vincent (the "Closure Plan").
The Debtors assert that there is no buyer interested in purchasing St. ~Tlncent as agoing-concern;
that the operating lasses generated by St..Vincent threaten the viability of the entire Verity
Health System; and that if the Debtors do not immediately begin implementing the Closure Plan,
they will lack sufficient funds to conduct an orderly closure.

The timeline contemplated by the Closure Plan is as follows (all dates are calculated with
reference to entry of an order granting the. Motion) ;

• Order + 1 day: Notify Emergency Medical Ser~Tice~ ~.N~ place St. Vincent on diversion
protocol for all patients. Begin process of transferring patients, along with their medical
information, to a hospital of their choice.

• Order ~ 3 days: Complete closure of emergency department.
• Order + 5 days: Cease scheduling all elective procedures.
• Order + 7 days: Conclude and cease all elective surgeries and other procedures.
• Order + 21 days: Complete closure of the dialysis department.
~ Urder ~ 34 days: Complete closure of the transplant department.

4 See Order (A) Authorizing.the Sale of Certain of the Debtors' Assets to Strategic Global
Management, Inc. Free and Clear of Liens, Claims, Encumbrances, and Other Interests; (B)
Approving the Assumption and Assignment of Unexpired Leases Related Thereto; and (C)
Granting Related Relief [Doc. No. 2306].
5 See Memorandum of Decision Finding that SGM is Obligated to Close the SGM Sale By No
Later than December 5, 2014 [Doc. No. 3723] and Order (1) Finding that SGM Is Obligated to
Close the SGM Sale By No Later than December 5, 2019 and (2) Setting Continued Hearing on
Debtors' Motion for Approval of Disclosure Statement [Doc. No. 3274].
6 Id

~ See Notice Re Termination of Asset Purchase Agreement with Strategic Global Management,
Inc. [Doc. No. 3899].



Case 2:18-bk-20151-ER Doc 3933 Filed 01/09/20 Entered OZi~9/20 11:53:24 Desc
Main Document Page 4 of 9

• Order ~ 30 days: Complete closure and cease clinical operations.

summary of the California 1\Turses Association's Opposition to the Motion
The California Nurses Association (the "ANA"), which represents registered nurses

employed at St. Vincent, opposes the Motion. The CNA makes the following arguments and
representations in support of its opposition:

The Debtors have not demonstrated that they have provided the notice of the contemplated
closure that is required under California law. Specifically, the contemplated closure violates the
following provisions of the Cal. Health &Safety Code:

~ Cal. I~ealth &Safety Code § 1255.1(x) requires that any hospital providing emergency
medical services give 90 days' advance notice of the elimination of such services to "the
state department, the local government entity in charge of the provision of health
services, and all health care service plans or other entities under contract with the hospital
to provide services to enrollees of the plan or other entity."

~ .Cal. ~-Iealth &Safety Code § 1225.1(b) requires a hospital to provide 9a days' advance
notice of the closure "in a manner that is likely to reach a significant number of residents
of the community" serviced by the hospital.

• Cal. Health &Safety Code § 1255.25(x)(1) requires that not less than 30 days prior to the
closure, the hospital (1 }post notice of the closure "at the entrance to all affected
facilities" and (2) provide notice of the closure to the department and the board of
supervisors of the county in which. the hospital is located.
Cal. Health &Safety Code § 1255.25(b)(2) requires that not less than 30 days prior to
closure, the hospital provide notice to Medicare and Medi-dal beneficiaries, including
information on the nearest available facilities providing similar healthcare services.

The notification requirements serve a vital role ~ helping un~d.erse~-ved communities prepare far
the devastating loss of essential :healthcare services, As set forth in a January 7, 2024 letter from
California State Senator Maria Elena Durazo and California State Assembly Member Wendy
Carrillo, who represent constituents in the district in which St. Vincent is located, closure of the
hospital will be "devastating" for the district, and the public notice requirement "is crucial
because it gives [the public] time to figure out where patients should be going to receive care in
the area" and "ensure[s] workers are not left unemployed ...."

In Norris Square Civic Assn v. St. Mary Hosp. (In re St. 1t~a~y Hosp.), the Bankruptcy Court
enjoined a hospital from closing because it had failed to comply with applicable notice
requirements imposed by state law. 8b B.R. 393, 4Q0 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1988). The Motion should
be denied based on the Debtors' failure to comply with the notice requirements imposed by
California law.

The ~imeframe proposed by the Debtors far closing the em~rgenc~ department. creates an
unreasc~►nable r ~l~ to public safety. The Debtors plan to close the emergency department within
three days after entry of an order granting the Motion. Even if ambulances are placed on
diversion status, many residents of the community will still drive to the emergency department to
receive care. Based on the most recent filing with the California Office of Statewide ~Iealth
Planning and Development, the emergency department receives approximately 83 visits per day.



Case 2:18-bk-20151-ER Doc 3933 Filed x1/09/20 Entered 01/09/20 11:53: 4 Desc
Main Document Page 5 of 9

II. Discussion
A. CNA's {Jppasition to the Motion is Clverruled

CI'~1A asserts that the closure Plan cannot be approved because the Debtors have failed to
provide notification of the closure in accordance with the provisions of the Cal. Health &Safety
Code. CNA's argument incorrectly assumes that the Cal. ~Iealth &Safety Code's notice
provisions are controlling within the bankruptcy contest.

Title 28 U.S.C. § 959(b) requires the Debtors to "manage and operate the property" in their
possession "according to the requirements of the valid laws of the State in which such property is
situated, in the same manner that the owner or possessor thereof would be bound to do if in
possession thereof." However, ~ 959{b} applies only to ~ro~perty used in connection with an
operating business, it .does. not apply to property v~rhere business operations have ceased. and the
assts are being liquidated. In In ~e Gardens Reg'l Hosp. c~ Med. C'tr., Inc. ,this Court held that
§ 959(b) did not apply to the sale of a closed hospital. 5~7 B.R. 820; 829 (Bankr. C.D. Cal.
2017). See also S.E.C. v. Wealth .Mgmt. LLC, 628 F.3d 323, 334 (7th Cir. 2010) ("Modern courts
have ... concluded that § 959(b) does not apply to liquidations"); Alabama Surface 1Vlin. Comm'n
v. N.P. Min. ~''o. (In ~e N.P. Min. Co., Inc.), 963 F.2d 1449, 1460 (1 lth Cir. 1992) ("A number of
courts have held that section 959(b) does not apply when a business's operations have ceased
and its assets are being liquidated"); Sa~avia v. ~ 73618th St., .N. W., Ltd. ''ship, $44 F.2d 823,
827 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (viewing § 959(b) "as applying only to operating businesses, not ones that
were In the process of being liquidated").
Upan initi~.tion of the Closure Plan, St. V nc~~.t will enter the process off' liquidation .and will

no longer be an operating business. Therefore, ~ 959(b) does not require the Debtar~ to comply
with the notice deadlines of the dal. I-~~alth c4~ ~afet~ Code when implementing the Closure Plan.

This case provides a compelling illustration of why the Banl~:ruptcy Court's authority to
supervise the. use of estate property under ~ 363(b~ must trump the dal. Health 8~ Safety Code.
The Debtors wark~d to close the SCAM Sale, which would have allowed fit. Vincent to continue
operating, until D~cemb~r 27, 201 ~. Co~mp~ ance with the +Cal. ~Iealth c~ Safety Code' ~ notice
requirements would have required the Debtors to provide notice that St. Vincent would be
closing at a time when the Debtors reasonably expected that ~th+e AGM Sale would close. The
provision of such notice would have interfered with St. Vincent's operations, disrupting the
Debtors' efforts to close the SGM Sale. Premature publication of notice cif closure would have
harmed employee ret~n~IQn and. morale, confused patents, and caused v~nd~rs to cease
fLil"111S~1111,g Cr1t1C~~ SUp~~.l~5. These serious harms would have undercut the central objective of the
§ 3~3 sale process providing the Debtors the opportunity to realize the optimal value of their
assets. Simantob v. Claims Prosecutor, LLC (In ~e Lahijani), 325 B.R. 282, 285-89 (9th Cir.
BAP 2005).

DNA's opposition suffers from an additional defect. As a party in interest, CNA "may appear
and be heard on any issue" in these cases. § 1109(b). ~Iowever, the Court must still assess
whether CNA has standing to assert that the Closure Plan violates the Cal. Health &Safety
Code. The Court finds that it does not.

The provisions of the Cal. ~Iealth &Safety Code cited by CNA are enforced by the
California Department of Public Health (the "CDP~I"). CDPH did not file a written opposition to
the Motion.g CNA's opposition essentially seeks to enforce various provisions of the Cal. Health

$ At the hearing, Deputy Attorney General Kenneth K. fang, who represents the California
Department of ~Iealth Care Services, alleged that the Motion had not been properly served upon



Case 2:18-bk-24151-ER Doc 3933 Filed ol~agl2a Entered 01/09/20 11:53:24 Desc
Main Document Page 6 of 9

& Safety Code against the Debtors on CDP~-I's behalf. That is not appropriate, because the
I~ealth &Safety Code does not create a private right of acta~~n, The California Supreme Court
has explained that a private right of action exists under the following circumstances:

A violation of a state statute does not necessarily give rise to a private cause of action.
Instead, whether a party has a right to sue depends on whether the Legislature has
"manifested an intent to _create such a private cause of action" under the statute ....

A statute may contain " ̀clear, understandable, unmistakable terms,' "which strongly
and directly indicate that the Legislature intended to create a private cause of action. For
instance, the. statute may expressly state that a person has or is liable for a cause of action
for a particular violation. (See, e.g., Civ.Code, § 51.9 ["A person is liable in a cause of
action for sexual harassment" when a plaintiff proves certain elements]; Health c~
Saf.Code, § 1285, subd. (c) ["Any person who is detained in a health facility solely for
the nonpayment of a bill has a cause of action against the health facility for the
detention"] .) Or, more commonly, a statute may refer to a remedy or means of enforcin. .. ~
its substantive provisions, l.e., by way of an action.

Lu v. Hawaiian Ca~dens Casino, Ine., 54 dal. 4th 542, 597, 236 P.3d 346, 348 (2010) (internal
citations omitted).
None of the sections cited by CNA contains language expressly creating a private right of

action. Further, there is no indication that the legislature intended for private entities to have the
ability to enforce those provisions against hospitals. See Lu, 50 Cal. 45th at 600 (providing that if
a statute does not expressly create a private right of action, there must be a "clear indication" that
the legislature intended to do so). To the contrary, the structure of the statute indicates that the
legislature delegated enforcement responsibilities solely to the CDPH. The provisions cited by
CNA are contained within the chapter of the statute pertaining to licensure. That chapter also
contains provisions setting forth the circumstances under which a health facility's license Ana bey
revoked, including the manner in v~hich the CDP~-I must conduct hearings on license revocation.
See Cal. I~ealth &Safety Code § 1294 (the "state department may suspend or revoke any license

the CDPH. The Court finds that the CDPI~ received sufficient notice of the Motion. On January
6, 2020, the Motion v as served upon Deputy Attorney General David K. Eldon, De ut Attornep Y y
General Kenneth K. Wang, and Deputy Attorney General Scott. khan, via e-mall. Doc. l`To. 3913,
Ex. B. On January 6, 2020, the Debtors provided telephonic notice of the hearing to AttorneY
General Xavier Becerra and Deputy Attorney General Kenneth K. Wang. Id. at Ex. A. On
January 6, 2020, the Debtors served the Motion, via overnight mail, upon Attorney General
Xavier Becerra, Deputy Attorney General Kenneth K. Wang, Deputy Attorney General David
Eldon, the Office of the Attorney General located in Los Angeles, and the Consumer Law
Section of the Office of the Attorney General. Id. at Ex. D. On January 7, 2020, at 5:48 p.m.
(Pacific Time), the Debtors served the Motion electronically upon the CDPH, at seven different
e-mail addresses. Doc. No. 3 924.On that same date, the Debtors provided telephonic notice of
the 11~otion and the hearing date to counsel to the CDP~I. Id. CDPI-~ had sufficient notice of the
Motion to have a team of repres~ntativ~s onsite at St. Vincent preparing for the contem lated
closure at the same time ghat the hearing was being conducted, as represented by Debtors'
counsel at the hearing.



Case 2:18-bk-20151-ER Doc 3933 Filed 01/a~12~ Entered 01/09/20 11:53:24 Desc
Main Document Page 7 of 9

or special permit issued under the provisions of this chapter upon any of the following grounds
...."); id. at § l 0a 171 {containing procedures for hearings on licensure).

In addition, at least one court has held that a provision contained within Division 2 of the
Health &Safety Code (the same division containing the provisions cited by CNA) does not
create a private right of action. See Sohn Muir Health v: blob. Excel Mgmt. , Na. C-14-042.26
DMR, 2014 WL ~657~56, at *4 ~v.D. Cal. Nov. 21, 2014) (dismissing a claim brought under
Cal. ~Iealth &Safety Code § 13714(b) because the provision did not create a standalone private
right of action).

B. The Debtors Are Authorized to Implement the Closure Plan to Effect an Orderly
Closure of St. Vincent

Section 363(b) authorizes a debtor to use property of the estate outside the ordinary course of
business upon court approval. The debtor must artic~la.t~ a "1~~asiness justl~catian" to use
property outside the ordinary course of business. ~n re Walter, 83 B.R. 14, 19-2Q (B.A.P. 9th
Cir. 1988}. Whether the articulated business justification is sufficient "depends on the case,"~ in
view of "all salient factors pertaining to the proceeding." Id. at 19--20.

The Debtors' decision to close St. Vincent constitutes a "use" of estate property within the
meaning of § 363~b). The Debtors have ar~lculate+d a sufficient business justification. for closing
St. Vincent. The following facts have been established by the declarations submitted in support
of the Motion:

• 1~o b~.y~r has ~resente~d a realistic bid to purchase fit. Vincent as a stand-alone hospital.
Moloney Decl. at'~ 4. Although James M. Moloney, the Debtors' investment banker, had
a telephone conversation with a potential bidder on January 6, 2020, that bidder had
conducted limited due diligence and did not have experience with the regulatory approval
process required to purchase a hospital. ~d. Further, the bidder's intended use for St.
Vincent was as areal-estate Investment if the bidder's hospital operating partner could
nat develop a viable plan to profitably operate St. Vincent. Id.

• St. 'Vincent is generating substantial operating losses. As of the Petition Date, St. Vincent
accounted for approximately 23% of the patient volume of the entire Verity Health
System, but was responsible for 60% of the operating losses. Chadwick Decl. at'~ 6. If
the Debtors do not implement the Closure Plan rapidly, they will lack sufficient funds to
conduct an orderly closure of St. Vincent. Adcock ~P~~a. at'~ 7.

~ The Debtors lack sufficient funds to continue to subsidize St. ~Tincent's operating losses.
Absent the closure of St. Vincent, the Debtors will be unable to continue operating their
other hospitals. Chadwick Decl. at'~ 9.

Since it is not feasible for the Debtors to continue St. Vincent's operations, implementation
of the Closure Plan is necessary to sustain public health and welfare. Public safety would be
jeopardized if the Debtors allowed St. Vincent to remain open while lacking sufficient funds to
support Its operations. In this respect, the Court notes that-the Debtors do not have the ability to
borrow under any debtor-In-possession financing facility. The Debtors' cases are being financed
by a consensual cash collateral stipulation executed between sthe Debtors and the principal
secured creditors (the "Cash Collateral Stipulation"). Under the Cash Collateral Stipulation, the
Debtors' ability to use cash collateral terminates on January 31, 2020.



Case 2:18-bk-20151-ER Dac 3933 Filed 01/09/20 Entered 01/09/20 11:53:24 Desc
Main Document Page 8 of 9

CNA. asserts that the Debtors are entitled to damages from SGM for its failure to perform
under .the APA, and that St. Vincent's operations could be funded from these breach damages.
CNA overlooks the fact that the Court has not made a ~ndi~~ ~s to whether SGM has _.breached
the APA. The issue of SGM's alleged breach is subject to ongoin l~ti anon, which will not beg g
resolved in the near term. Sustaining St. Vincent's operations requires immediately available
I1gUlC~lt~, which the Debtors lack. The speculative possibility of a future cash infusion based
upon SGM's alleged breach is not a solution to St. Vincent's current funding crisis. Nor is
pursuing a sale, another alternative suggested b~ CI A. There are no arm expressions of interest.
Even if a buyer was identified, the sale process and review by the- Attorney General's office
would take months to conclude.

The Closure Plan preserves patient safety. Acute care patients will be transferred to Good
Samaritan ~Iospital, which is located approximately one mile from St. Vincent. Adcock Decl. at
~ 8. St. Joseph I~ospital has agreed to assume care of the kidney transplant patients who are artp
of the St. Vlnc~nt Transplant Program, subject to approval of the United Network for Organ
Sharing. Id.

1. The Timeline Set Forth in the Closure Plan is A~~roved, Except that the Deadline for
Physicians to Vacate St. Vincent's Medical office Facilities is Extended by 30 Dais

At the hearing, multiple parties testified regarding the impact of the Closure Plan u on. . pphysicians, employees, patients, and other stakeholders. Having considered the evidence before
it, the Court approves the deadlines set forth in the Closure Plan, with the exception of the
deadline for physicians to vacate St. Vincent's medical ofd ce facilities, which is extended by 3 0
days to Apri130, 2020.

The Court places substantial weight upon the testimony of Dr. Jacob Nathan Rubin, the
Court-appointed Patient Care Ombudsman. Dr. Ruben testified as follows:

To protect patient safety, St. Vincent, must be closed as quickly as possible following the
announcement of the hospital's closure. Once closure is announced, key members of St.
Vincent's medical staff will immediately leave to seek employment elsewhere. Re lacinp g
experienced staff with temporary workers is not feasible because the temporary workers
will be unfamiliar with St. Vincent's systems, procedures, and electronic medical records.
There will not be a sufficient number of experienced staff remaining to adequately train
the large Influx of temporary workers. The result of the rapid departure of experienced
staff will be a marked decline in the quality of patient care, seriously jeopardizing patient
safety.
The transfer of existing patients to other hospitals will not impair. patient safety. Patients
are routinely transferred from one hospital to another, and the hospital resources within
St. Vincent's immediate vicinity are more than sufficient to accommodate ~St. Vincent's
patients.

Alice Kirchner, director of Dialysis Services at St. Vincent, asserted that the Closure Plan did
not provide sufficient notice to enable the smooth relocation of patients. Ms. Kirchner stated that
the Closure Plan's deadlines were creating stress and trauma for affected patients, staff, and
physicians. Ms. Kirchner requested that the Dialysis Unit. be provided a minimum of 30 days to
relocate patients before being shut down.



Case 2:18-bk-20151-ER Doc 3933 Filed a1/a9/20 Entered 01/09120 11:53:24 Desc
Main Document Page 9 of 9

In view of Dr. Rubin's testimony, the Court does not find it appropriate to extend the
deadlines. set forth in the Closure Plan. In fact, Dr. Rubin testified that if the deadlines were to be
modified, they should be shortened, not extended..The Court understands the difficulties that the
Closure Plan's deadlines place upon stakeholders. However, the Court's first riorit must be• p ~'protecting patient safety, and that requires a rapid closure.

St. Vincent leases office space to physicians who provide outpatient services. Dr. Marc
Girsky, St. Vincent's Chief of Staff, stated that the March 31, 2420 deadline for physicians to
vacate the office space vcTould not provide physicians adequate time to relocate their practices.
Dr. Girsky requested that physicians be provided at least six months to relocate. Dr. Samuel Lee,
St. Vincent's. former Chief of Staff, and Ryan Yant, counsel for St. Vincent Independent
Physicians Association, made statements in support of Dr. Girsky's request. The Court also
received a letter signed by numerous physicians who lease office space at St. Vincent re uestinq ~
that the deadline to relocate by extended to June 30, 2020.

In response to the physicians' requests, the .Debtors proposed extending the relocation
deadline by 30 days, to April 30, 2020. The Court finds the compromise proposed by the
Debtors to be appropriate. The April 30 deadline provides physicians approximately four months
to relocate.

III. Conclusion
The Court is fully cognizant of the hardship that closure of St. Vincent will have upon

employees and members of the surrounding community. The absence of any serious purchaser
willing to acquire St. Vincent as agoing-concern has placed all constituencies in this case in a
difficult position. I-however, forcing the Debtors to keep St. Vincent open when there is z
insufficient money to operate it would only make the situation far worse far St. Vincent and for
the patients of the Debtor's other hositals.

The Motion is G1~►ANTED to the extent set forth herein. I`~atwithstanding Bankruptcy Rule
6004(h), the order granting the Motion shall take effect immediately upon entry. By no later than
January 23, 2020, the Debtors shall submit a Status Report regarding implementation of the
Closure Plan. Subsequent Status Reports shall be submitted every fourteen days until the Closure
Plan has been fully implemented.10 The court will enter an order consistent with this
Memorandum of Decision.

###

Date: January 9, 2020 ~ 'a Qi~

Ernest M. Robles
Unified States Bankruptcy .fudge

9 Doc. No. 3926.
to No hearings will be conducted in connection with the Status Report unless otherwise ordered
by the Court.



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.24 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.25 CORRESPONDENCE



2.26 CORRESPONDENCE





e527421
Typewritten Text
2.27 CORRESPONDENCE





e527421
Typewritten Text
2.28 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.29 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.30 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.31 CORRESPONDENCE





e527421
Typewritten Text
2.32 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text
2.33 CORRESPONDENCE







e527421
Typewritten Text
2.34 CORRESPONDENCE



e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text
2.35 CORRESPONDENCE



Base Hospital Advisory Committee February 12, 2020 
Page 1 of 3 

County of Los Angeles • Department of Health Services 
Emergency Medical Services Agency 

BASE HOSPITAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

February 12, 2020 

MEMBERSHIP / ATTENDANCE 

REPRESENTATIVES EMS AGENCY STAFF 
 Robert Ower, RN., Chair EMS Commission Dr. Marianne Gausche-Hill 
 Carole Snyder, RN., Vice Chair EMS Commission Dr. Nichole Bosson 
 Joe Salas EMS Commission Richard Tadeo 
 Rachel Caffey Northern Region Christine Clare 
 Melissa Carter Northern Region John Telmos 
 Charlene Tamparang Northern Region, Alternate Jackie Rifenburg 
 Samantha Verga-Gates Southern Region Michelle Williams 
 Laurie Donegan Southern Region Paula Rashi 
 Shelly Trites Southern Region Susan Mori 
 Christine Farnham, APCC Pres. Elect. Southern Region, Alternate Karen Rodgers 
 Paula Rosenfield Western Region Joel Mendoza 
 Ryan Burgess Western Region Gary Watson 
 Alex Perez-Sandi Western Region, Alternate David Wells 
 Erin Munde Western Region, Alternate Dr. Denise Whitfield 
 Laurie Sepke Eastern Region Dr. Natalia Alvarez 
 Alina Candal Eastern Region Jennifer Calderon 
 Jenny Van Slyke Eastern Region, Alternate  Natalie Greco 
 Lila Mier County Hospital Region GUESTS 
 Emerson Martell County Hospital Region Dr. Clayton Kazan, LACOFD 
 Yvonne Elizarraz County Hospital Region, Alternate Nicole Steeneken, LACOFD 
 Antoinette Salas County Hospital Region, Alternate  Shane Cook, LACOFD 
 Alec Miller Provider Agency Advisory Committee Melanie Pham, (HGH) 
 Jennifer Nulty Provider Agency Advisory Committee, Alt. Joseph Friedrich, (HGH) 
 Laarni Abdenoja MICN Representative Dr. Shira Schlesinger (HGH) 
 Jennifer Grere MICN Representative, Alt.  Ashley Sanello, Compton Fire 
 Robin Goodman Pediatric Advisory Committee 
 Kerry Gold-Tsakonas Pediatric Advisory Committee, Alt. 

PREHOSPITAL CARE COORDINATORS 
 Gloria Guerra (QVH), APCC Pres.  Heidi Ruff (HMN)  Laura Leyman (SFM)
 Karyn Robinson (GWT)  Jessica Strange (SJS)  Chad Sibbett (SMM)
 Coleen Harkins (AVH)  Michael Natividad (AMH)

1. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order at 1:01 P.M. by Robert Ower, Chairperson.

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  The meeting minutes for December 11, 2019, were approved as
written.

M/S/C (Van Slyke/Goodman)

3.1 COMMITTEE REPORTS



 
Base Hospital Advisory Committee  February 12, 2020 
 

Page 2 of 3 

3. INTRODUCTIONS/ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
• Self-introductions were made by all. 
• The Annual EMS System Report for 2019 is available on-line, 

http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/dhs/1068221_2019EMSAnnualDataReport.pdf 
• 2020 Annual EMSAAC Conference, May 27-28, 2020. 
• 2020 APCC Board Members Announcement, roster provided. 

 
4. REPORTS & UPDATES: 

4.1 EMS Update 2020/Train-the-Trainer  
 
The Train-the-Trainer classes are scheduled for the following dates: 
 
Wednesday March 4, 2020  8:00 – 11:00 am 
Wednesday March 4, 2020  1:00 – 4:00 pm 
Thursday March 12, 2020 8:00 – 11:00 am 
 
If you have not done so, please RSVP with Vanessa Gonzales at (562) 378-1607 or 
VGonzalez3@dhs.lacounty.gov. 
 
EMS Update will be offered via a learning management system through Advanced 
Problem Solving (APS).  The EMS Agency will sponsor accounts for all MICNs and Base 
Hospital Physicians.  The account will be based on the e-mail address provided on the 
MICN application.  Both continuing education (CE) and field care audit (FCA) hours will 
provided.   
 
The attendees will receive the course in advance, for preview, to allow for questions and 
an interactive Train-the-Trainer experience. 
 

4.2 PHAST-TSC 
 
Update:  The first PHAST-TSC trial study patient was enrolled on Monday, January 20, 
2020.  At this time, only Culver City Fire and Ronald Reagan UCLA Medical Center are 
involved in the study.  The EMS Agency will provide notification as additional Provider 
Agencies and Stroke Centers enroll in the study. 
 

4.3 ECMO Pilot Program (Attachment 1) 
  
Several providers – Los Angeles County Fire, Los Angeles City Fire, Culver City Fire, and 
Beverly Hills Fire; in conjunction with LAC+USC, Cedars Sinai Medical Center, and 
Ronald Reagan UCLA, will be participating in the ECMO Pilot Program.  Due to the 
specificity of the study’s inclusion criteria, a limited number of patients will bypass a 
closer SRC to be transported to an ECMO center.  The pilot is pending IRB approval and 
the anticipated target launch date is April 1, 2020. This date may change, and the EMS 
Agency will provide an official start date once determined.   
 

5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 
The following References were provided for information only. 

 
5.1 Ref. No. 326, Psychiatric Urgent Care Center Standards 

 
5.2 Ref. No. 328, Sobering Center Standards 

 

http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/dhs/1068221_2019EMSAnnualDataReport.pdf
mailto:VGonzalez3@dhs.lacounty.gov


 
Base Hospital Advisory Committee  February 12, 2020 
 

Page 3 of 3 

5.3 Ref. No. 526, Behavioral/Psychiatric Crisis Patient Destination 
 

5.4 Ref. No. 526.1, Medical Clearance Criteria Screening Tool for Psychiatric Urgent Care 
Center 
 

5.5 Ref. No. 528, Intoxicated (Alcohol) Patient Destination 
 

5.6 Ref. No. 528.1, Medical Clearance Screening Tool for Sobering Center 
 

6. NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Changes made to the following Treatment Protocols (Ref. No. 1204, Ref. No. 1237, Ref. No. 
1241) are reflective of the capnography addition.  Not included below is Ref. No. 1305, 
Capnography which is now on the website and will be effective April 1, 2020. 

  
6.1 Ref. No. 1204, Fever/Sepsis 

 
M/S/C (Burgess & Guerra) 
 

6.2 Ref. No. 1237, Respiratory Distress 
 
M/S/C (Burgess & Guerra) 
 

6.3 Ref. No. 1241, Overdose/Poisoning/Ingestion 
 
M/S/C (Burgess & Guerra) 
 

6.4 Ref. No. 1317.22, MCG: Drug Reference – Ketorolac 
 
M/S/C (Guerra & Van Slyke) 
 

6.5 Ref. No. 1330, MCG, Medication Orders and Administration 
 
M/S/C (Guerra & Van Slyke) 
 

6.6 Ref. No. 1345, MCG, Pain Management 
 
M/S/C (Guerra & Van Slyke) 
 

7. OPEN DISCUSSION:   
 
None 
 

8. NEXT MEETING:  BHAC’s next meeting is scheduled for April 8, 2020, location is the EMS 
Agency, Hearing Room @ 1:00 P.M. 

 
ACTION:  Meeting notification, agenda, and minutes to be distributed electronically prior 
to the meeting. 
 
ACCOUNTABILITY:  Lorrie Perez 
 

9. ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 13:59 P.M. 



Los Angeles County Refractory Ventricular Fibrillation/Ventricular 
Tachycardia ECMO Pilot Program Base Hospital Guidance

Principles:
1. For study patients, participating field providers will contact the ECMO-center Base to

provide notification and for online medical direction.  MICNs and Base Physicians
should be familiar with the differences in the field management for these patients.

2. As with all OHCA patients, management should be conducted as to minimize
interruptions in chest compressions and prioritize proven therapies for VF/VT cardiac
arrest, including chest compression and defibrillation.

3. While usual protocols emphasize prolonged on scene resuscitation for refractory VF/VT,
study patients for whom a mechanical CPR device is available to maintain quality chest
compression during transport should be transported as soon as possible after the 3rd

defibrillation in order to minimize the low-flow time prior to cannulation for ECMO.
4. Patients should have an advanced airway (ETT or King Airway) in place prior to

transport with an Impedance Threshold Device (ITD) attached.
5. Patients should not receive more than 3 dose of epinephrine during the resuscitation.

Additional epinephrine for patients who re-arrest into a non-shockable rhythm should
be considered on a case-by-case basis, since additional epinephrine is associated with
worse outcomes.

6. The patient should be a confirmed study patient prior to transport (including VF/VT
refractory to 3 shocks) in order to reduce the potential harm resulting from premature
transport for patients who are not ECMO candidates.

7. Additional patients may be considered for ECMO on a case-by-case basis, although they
are not study patients.  This would include patients who have recurrent VF arrest
(rather than refractory) and/or cardiogenic shock after ROSC prior to 3 shocks, or
patients with pilot study contraindications for whom the ECMO team still feels could
benefit.  However, take care not to extend transport times for patients who are not
study patients; ECMO has been shown to improve outcomes in patients with refractory
VF/VT.

Guidelines:
1. Upon notification of a study patient, confirm patient meets ALL inclusion criteria and

has no known exclusion criteria.
2. Confirm patient is on LUCAS, has an advanced airway, ITD in place and capnography

monitoring.
3. Ensure immediate transport to your ECMO center.
4. Provide guidance on post-ROSC management prn, including IV fluids and push-dose

epinephrine.
5. Activate the ECMO team AND Cardiac Cath Lab immediately while patient is en route.
6. Ensure patient is tracked for entry into the study database (patient must be entered

regardless of treatment and outcome).

(ATTACHMENT 1)



Los Angeles County Refractory Ventricular Fibrillation/Ventricular 
Tachycardia ECMO Pilot Program Field Protocol

Potential Study Patient?
• VF or VT cardiac arrest
• Age ≥15 and ≤75
• Within 30 minutes of ECMO Center
• NO obvious contraindication to study (Noncardiac 

etiology, DNR, terminal illness, chronic nursing home 
resident/dependent due to cognitive impairment, 
pregnancy, cannot apply LUCAS)

Proceed with 
usual treatment 

per TP 1210*

• Continuous chest compressions (limit interruptions ≤5 sec)
• Apply LUCAS device as soon as available
• Establish IV/IO access

DEFIBRILLATION #1

• Maintain continuous chest compressions (manual or LUCAS as soon as available)
• Administer epinephrine 1mg IV/IO q 5 minutes (3 doses total)
• Insert advanced airway and apply ITD (if not done with BMV)
• Begin packaging and preparing patient for transport

DEFIBRILLATION #2

Persistent VF/VT at 2 minutes?

• Confirm study patient - Meets ALL indications? NO contraindications?
• Maintain continuous chest compressions (ensure LUCAS applied prior to transport)
• Administer Amiodarone 300mg IV/IO
• Contact ECMO center Base Station to notify of study patient 
• Initiate transport with ongoing resuscitation

DEFIBRILLATION #3

Proceed with 
usual treatment 

per TP 1210*

Persistent VF/VT at additional 2 minutes?
Proceed with 

usual treatment 
per TP 1210*

INITIATE TREATMENT OF NON-TRAUMATIC CARDIAC ARREST PER TP 1210

*ITD/LUCAS should be also used by participating 
units whenever available for all OHCA patients.



• Age 15-75 (inclusive)
• Initial rhythm VF/VT
• 3 shocks delivered in field without ROSC - includes AED

• Amiodarone IV/IO administered
• Transport time ≤30 minutes to ECMO center

Does Patient Meet ALL
Inclusion Criteria*?

YES

NO
Not a study patient, do not enter data.

Does Patient have ANY
Exclusion Criteria?

NO

YES Provider Agency selects exclusion criteria 
that apply – DONE.

• Suspected/known non-cardiac etiology
• Unable to apply LUCAS device
• Existing DNR order
• Known terminal illness
• Chronic nursing home resident/poor baseline neuro 

status (i.e., dependent due to cognitive impairment)
• Known pregnancy

1

2

*ALL patients who meet these 5 criteria must be entered, regardless of 
field care, destination, and outcome.

Provider Agency initiates 
data entry in REDCap.

ECMO Center is notified of study patient via 
email; record is visible in REDCap.

ECMO Center completes the 
Hospital Data entry – DONE.

3

4

5

ECMO Center identifies a 
patient who meets ALL
Inclusion Criteria not entered 
by Provider Agency and notifies 
Provider Agency to complete 
record.  Go to step 2.

1a

ALTERNATE PATH



 EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
DATA ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

MEETING NOTICE 

Date & Time: Wednesday, April 8, 2020 10:00 A.M. 
Location: EMS Agency, First Floor Hearing Room 

10100 Pioneer Boulevard 
Santa Fe Springs, 90670-3736 

DATA ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
DARK FOR APRIL 2020 

Los Angeles County 
Board of Supervisors 

Hilda L. Solis 
First District 

Mark Ridley-Thomas 
Second District 

Sheila Kuehl 
Third District 

Janice Hahn 
Fourth District 

Kathryn Barger 
Fifth District 

Cathy Chidester 
Director 

Marianne Gausche-Hill, MD 
 Medical Director 

10100 Pioneer Boulevard, Suite 200 
Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670 

Tel: (562) 378-1500 
Fax: (562) 941-5835 

“To advance the health of our 

communities by ensuring 

quality emergency and 

disaster medical services.” 

H
ea

lt
h

 S
er

v
ic

es
 

h
tt
p
:/
/
e
m
s.
d
h
s.
la
co
u
n
ty
.g
o
v
 

3.2 COMMITTEE REPORTS



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
County of Los Angeles                                                                                 

                     Department of Health Services 

 

            
   

    EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 

PROVIDER AGENCY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES 
 

Wednesday, February 19, 2020 
 
 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP / ATTENDANCE 
 

MEMBERS     ORGANIZATION  EMS AGENCY STAFF PRESENT 
   Paul Rodriquez, Chair EMSC, Commissioner   Nichole Bosson, MD Denise Whitfield, MD 

  David White, Vice-Chair  EMSC, Commissioner  Terry Cramer Elaine Forsyth 
  Eugene Harris   EMSC, Commissioner  Cathlyn Jennings Susan Mori 
  Brian Bixler   EMSC, Commissioner  Sara Rasnake Jacqueline Rifenburg 
 Sean Stokes    Area A  John Telmos David Wells 
  Justin Crosson    Area A, Alt.     (Rep to Med Council, Alt)  Joel Mendoza Christina Eclarino 

   Dustin Robertson   Area B  Troy Goodspeed Gary Watson 
  Clayton Kazan, MD  Area B, Alt.   

   Victoria Hernandez Area B, Alt.     (Rep to Med Council)  OTHER ATTENDEES 
 Ken Leasure   Area C     Ashley Sanello, MD Compton FD                                                                            
  Lyn Riley  Area C, Alt.    Emmanuel Godeniz University of Antelope Valley 

  Ivan Orloff                       Area E     Luis Vasquez  AMR Ambulance 
   Mike Beeghly  Area E, Alt.     Nicole Steeneken LACo FD 
  Wade Haller    Area F     Adrienne Roel Culver City FD 
   Brenda Bridwell  Area F, Alt.     CJ Bartholomew Care Ambulance 

 Alec Miller   Area G           (Rep to BHAC)  Jack Ewell LACo Sheriff 
  Jennifer Nulty  Area G, Alt.    (Rep to BHAC, Alt.)  Craig Hammond Glendale FD 
 Doug Zabilski  Area H             Catherine Borman Santa Monica FD 
  Anthony Hardaway     Area H, Alt.    Chris Backley  San Gabriel FD 
  Matthew Conroy  Area H, Alt.     (Rep to DAC)  Daniel Graham  Liberty Ambulance 
 Julian Hernandez  Employed Paramedic Coordinator   Mike Fountain West Covina FD 
    Tisha Hamilton  Employed Paramedic Coordinator, Alt. Marc Cohen, MD El Segundo FD, 
 Rachel Caffey   Prehospital Care Coordinator      Torrance FD,  
  Jenny Van Slyke  Prehospital Care Coordinator, Alt.    Manhattan Beach FD 
 Andrew Respicio  Public Sector Paramedic                  
 Daniel Dobbs Public Sector Paramedic, Alt.  

 Maurice Guillen Private Sector Paramedic  
   Scott Buck Private Sector Paramedic, Alt.  

 Ashley Sanello, MD Provider Agency Medical Director  
 Vacant Provider Agency Medical Director, Alt.   

 Andrew Lara    Private Sector Nurse Staffed Ambulance Program  
  Gary Cevello Private Sector Nurse Staffed Ambulance Program, Alt.  
 Michael Kaduce EMT Training Program 
  Scott Jaeggi EMT Training Program, Alt. 
 Danny Lopez Paramedic Training Program 
  Heather Davis Paramedic Training Program, Alt. 

LACAA – Los Angeles County Ambulance Association     LAAFCA – Los Angeles Area Fire Chiefs Association      BHAC – Base Hospital Advisory Committee       DAC – Data Advisory Committee 
   
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Committee Chair, Commissioner Paul Rodriquez, called meeting to order  
 at 1:02 p.m. 

 
 
 

e527421
Typewritten Text
3.3 COMMITTEE REPORTS



PAAC Minutes 02.19.2020 - 2 - 

 
2. INTRODUCTIONS / ANNOUNCEMENTS / PRESENTATIONS 

 
2.1 2020 Annual EMSAAC Conference (Paul Rodriguez) 

 
This year’s Conference is scheduled for May 27 & 28, 2020 at the Omni San Diego Hotel. 
Reservations can be made at the following weblink: www.EMSAAC.org 
 

2.2 Changes to Committee Membership (Paul Rodriguez) 
 

Chair announced the following changes to Committee membership: 
• Area C, Alternate Representative:  

Jennifer Nulty, RN, Torrance FD; replacing Chris Morrow. 
• Area F, Primary Representative: 

Wade Haller, Captain, Long Beach FD; replacing James Flint. 
• Area F, Alternate Representative: 

Brenda Bridwell, RN, Long Beach FD; replacing Joanne Dolan 
• Area G, Alternate Representative:   

Lyn Riley, RN, UCLA Center for Prehospital Care; replacing Philip Ambrose.  
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (White/Respicio) December 16, 2019 minutes were approved as written. 
 

4. REPORTS & UPDATES 
 

4.1 Disaster Services Update 
 
Reference to 4.2 below. 

 
4.2 2019 Novel Coronavirus (Terry Cramer) 

 
   EMS Agency staff provided the following update on the Corona Virus: 

• Public Health is diligently monitoring the situation and is actively participating in the 
screening process at Los Angeles International Airport (LAX) 

• Passengers identified as either returning from China or who have been around someone ill,  
 are being quarantined.  
• The EMS Agency, LAFD and UCLA-Ronald Reagan Hospital, have developed a transport 

plan for patients arriving at LAC, with suspected Coronavirus.  This plan is similar to the 
current MERS and SARS protocols developed years ago. 

• All 9-1-1 receiving hospitals are capable of receiving patients with the suspected virus. 
• Providers are advised to use PPE (respiratory/droplet precautions) while providing care to 

patients suspected of having the Coronavirus; utilizing N95 masks, goggles or face shield, 
gown and gloves. 

 
In January 2020, the EMS Agency’s Medical Director distributed two memorandums on the 
screening, identification and use of PPE while caring for patients suspected of having the 
Coronavirus. One memorandum was sent to all EMS providers and another to all dispatch centers.  
Memorandums were available during this meeting. 
 
To assist with providing the most up-to-date information on the Coronavirus, Committee requested 
improved communication between Los Angeles County Public Health Department and all EMS 
provider agencies.  
  
Trauma Throw Kits (Terry Cramer) 
 
EMS Agency thanked providers for their participation in answering a questionnaire regarding the 
number supervisor units each department has in service.  This will help to ensure all providers have 
the needed supply of “Stop the Bleed” kits, which will be provided by the EMS Agency. 
 

http://www.emsaac.org/
http://www.emsaac.org/


PAAC Minutes 02.19.2020 - 3 - 

 
4.3 Innovation, Technology and Advancement Committee (ITAC) Update (Denise Whitfield) 

 
The following topics are currently being reviewed by ITAC members and results will be shared once 
review is complete: 

• Auragain Laryngeal Mask Airway 
• Turkel Needle Decompression Device 
• Language Interpretation Software 
• Point of Care Testing 

 
4.4 EMS Update 2020 (Denise Whitfield) 

 
Dr. Whitfield provided the following update: 

• Train-the-Trainer classes are scheduled for March 4, 2020 and March 12, 2020. 
• Those registered for the class will receive an email within the next few weeks, which will 

provide information on accessing a training module.  The EMS Agency is asking that you 
review the training module prior to attending the training session.  Recommended changes 
can be sent to Dr. Whitfield at dwhitfield@dhs.lacounty.gov 

• During the training sessions, each person in attendance will receive a thumb-drive containing 
training material that can be used at their facility. 

 
4.5 PHAST-TSC (Nichole Bosson, MD) 

Pre-Hospital Administration of Stroke Therapy – Trans Sodium Crocetinate 
 

Dr. Bosson provided the following information on the current PHAST-TSC Trial:  
• This is a trial study to help researchers understand if the drug (TSC) helps to minimize the 

long-term effects of stroke.  This trial is being conducted in Virginia and Los Angeles County. 
• Currently, there are five fire departments who are participating: Culver City FD, Los Angeles 

County FD, Santa Monica FD, Burbank FD and Torrance FD.  
• It’s expected that more fire departments will become involved in the trial, once additional 

hospitals are approved. 
• When paramedics administer the trial medication, it does not change the treatment protocol 

they follow nor does it change patient destination. 
• Trial study will last approximately 1 ½ years 
   

4.6 ECMO Trial (Nichole Bosson, MD) 
Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation 
 
Dr. Bosson provided the following information on the upcoming ECMO Trial: 

• Anticipated start date is April 1, 2020. 
• This trial is an expansion of the already ongoing “Arrive Alive” study, which involves  

Beverly Hills FD, Los Angeles County FD, Culver City FD, UCLA-Ronald Regan Medical 
Center and Cedars Sinai Hospitals.   

• The ECMO Trial will include providers and hospitals listed above and will include Los 
Angeles FD and LAC+USC Medical Center. 

• The purpose of the study is to collect data from hospitals and fire departments on the use of 
ECMO, in order to understand the impact on our system and to evaluate whether ECMO 
should be expanded to all hospitals in the County. 

• Providers and hospitals require EMS Agency approval if wanting to participate in this study.  
• Field protocol and base guidance handouts were provided to Committee. 

 
5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
5.1 Reference No. 326, Psychiatric Urgent Care Center (PUCC) Standards (John Telmos) 

 
 
 

mailto:dwhitfield@dhs.lacounty.gov
mailto:dwhitfield@dhs.lacounty.gov


PAAC Minutes 02.19.2020 - 4 - 

   Policy reviewed and approved with the following recommendation: 
• Page 3, III. Add wording: PUCC is to notify the EMS Agency of patient transfers  

requiring re-transport. 
 
   M/S/C (Robertson/Zabilski) Approve Reference No. 326, Psychiatric Urgent Care  
   Center (PUCC) Standards, with recommendation. 
 

5.2 Reference No. 328, Sobering Center (SC) Standards (John Telmos) 
 
   Policy reviewed and approved with the following recommendation: 

• Page 3, III. Add wording: SC is to notify the EMS Agency of patient transfers  
requiring re-transport. 

 
   M/S/C (Kazan/Miller) Approve Reference No. 328, Sobering Center (SC) Standards, with  
   recommendation. 
 

5.3 Reference No. 526, Behavioral / Psychiatric Crisis Patient Destination  
 
   Policy reviewed and approved with the following recommendations: 

• Page 4, III. A. 6. a.: Change glucose range to read “60 mg/dL and less than 300 mg/dL” 
• Page 4, III. B. 12: To be consistent with other policies, change wording to read: “GCS <13” 
• Page 4, III. B. 15: At end of sentence, add: “(Refer to Medical Control Guideline 1355,  

                 Perfusion Status)” 
• Page 5, III. B. 18: At end of sentence, add: “(Refer to Reference No. 1208, Agitated Delirium)” 

 
   M/S/C (Orlof/Kazan) Approve Reference No. 526, Behavioral / Psychiatric Crisis Patient 
   Destination, with above recommendations. 
 

5.4 Reference No. 526.1, Medical Clearance Criteria Screening Tool for Psychiatric Urgent  
 Care Center (John Telmos) 
 
 Policy reviewed and approved with the following recommendations: 

• Change glucose range to read “60 mg/dL and less than 300 mg/dL” 
 

   M/S/C (Orlof/Kazan) Approved, Reference No. 526.1, Medical Clearance Criteria Screening  
   Tool for Psychiatric Urgent Care Center, with above recommendation. 
 

5.5 Reference No. 528, Intoxicated (Alcohol) Patient Destination 
 
   Upon review, Committee had the following recommendations: 

• Re-define the definition of “Alcohol Intoxication” 
• Page 2, II. E.: Remove and place in Reference No. 328, Sobering Center (SC) Standards 
• Page 3, III. A. 4. g.: At end of sentence, add wording “(Syncope or Seizure)” 
• Page 3, III. A. 5. c.: Delete sentence from policy 
• Page 4, III. B. 10.: Replace with “GCS < 13” 
• Page 4, III. B. 12.: At end of sentence, add wording “(Refer to Medical Control  

                   Guideline 1355, Perfusion Status)” 
 
   After lengthy discussion surrounding the definition of “Alcohol Intoxication”, policy was tabled.   
    
   The EMS Agency will review Reference No. 824, Patient Refusal of Treatment or Transport; 
   and Treatment Protocol, Reference No. 1241, Overdose/Poisoning/Ingestion, to ensure  
   consistency with definitions and base hospital requirements. 
 
   TABLED: Reference No. 528, Intoxicated (Alcohol) Patient Destination 



PAAC Minutes 02.19.2020 - 5 - 

 
5.6 Reference No. 528.1, Medical Clearance Criteria Screening Tool for Sobering Center 

 
   Policy reviewed with the following recommendations: 

• Change glucose range to read “60 mg/dL and less than 300 mg/dL” 
 
    After lengthy discussion surrounding the definition in Reference No. 528 (above), policy tabled.  
   
   TABLED: Reference No. 528.1, Medical Clearance Criteria Screening Tool for  
   Sobering Center. 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS 

 
6.1 Reference No. 1204, Treatment Protocol: Fever / Sepsis 

 
  Policy reviewed and approved as presented. 
 

6.2 Reference No. 1237, Treatment Protocol: Respiratory Distress 
 
  Policy reviewed and approved with the following recommendation: 

• Special Considerations, 5.: Modify language to ensure clarity 
 

6.3 Reference No. 1241, Treatment Protocol: Overdose / Poisoning / Ingestion 
 
  Policy reviewed and approved with the following recommendation: 

• Special Considerations, 2.: Modify language to ensure clarity; and consistent with  
Reference No. 1237 (above) 

 
6.4 Reference No. 1317.22, Medical Control Guideline: Drug Reference – Ketorolac 

 
  Policy reviewed and approved as presented. 
 

6.5 Reference No. 1330, Medical Control Guideline: Medication Orders / Administration 
 
  Policy reviewed and approved as presented. 
 

6.6 Reference No. 1345, Medical Control Guideline: Pain Management 
 
  Policy reviewed and approved with the following recommendation: 

• Principle:  Committee recommended a new Principle to state that paramedics should  
utilize critical thinking skills during the pain management selection. 

 
  M/S/C (Kazan/Kaduce) Approved, policies 6.1 through 6.6, with recommendations listed above. 

 
7. OPEN DISCUSSION:  

 
7.1 Transmission of 12-Lead Electro-Cardiograms (John Telmos) 

 
Providers are reminded to ensure that the 12-lead ECG being transmitted to hospitals have the 
“software interpretation” printed on the ECG. 
 
 

8. NEXT MEETING:  April 15, 2020 
 

9. ADJOURNMENT: Meeting adjourned at 2:47 p.m. 



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

(EMT, PARAMEDIC, MICN) 
SUBJECT: TRAUMA TRIAGE REFERENCE NO. 506 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 05-15-87  PAGE 1 OF 5 
REVISED:   DRAFT 
SUPERSEDES: 05-01-19 

APPROVED: ________________________ ______________________________ 
Director, EMS Agency Medical Director, EMS Agency 

PURPOSE: To establish criteria and standards which ensure that patients requiring the care 
of a trauma center are appropriately triaged and transported. 

AUTHORITY: California Code of Regulations, Title 13, Section 1105(c) California Code of 
Regulations, Title 22, Section 100236 et seq. Health and Safety Code, Div. 2.5, 
Section 1797 et seq., and 1317. 

PRINCIPLES: 

1. Trauma patients should be secured and transported from the scene as quickly as
possible, consistent with optimal trauma care.

2. Paramedics shall make base hospital contact and/or notification to the receiving trauma
center on all injured patients who meet trauma triage criteria and/or guidelines, or if in
the paramedic’s judgment it is in the patient’s best interest to be transported to a trauma
center. Contact shall be accomplished in such a way as not to delay transport.

3. Do not delay transport of hypotensive patients with penetrating torso trauma in order to
apply spinal motion restriction.

4. EMT personnel may immediately transport hypotensive patients with life-threatening,
penetrating injuries to the torso to the closest trauma center, not the Most Accessible
Receiving (MAR), when the transport time is less than the estimated time of paramedic
arrival. The transporting unit should make every effort to contact the receiving trauma
center.

5. When pediatric and adult trauma patients are transported together in one aircraft, the
receiving trauma center shall be both a trauma center and a pediatric trauma center.

POLICY: 

I. Trauma Criteria – Requires immediate transportation to a designated trauma center

Patients who fall into one or more of the following categories are to be transported
directly to the designated trauma center, if transport time does not exceed 30 minutes.

A. Systolic blood pressure less than 90 mmHg, or less than 70 mmHg in infants age
less than one year

B. Respiratory rate greater than 29 breaths/minute (sustained), less than 10
breaths/minute, less than 20 breaths/minute in infants age less than one year, or
requiring ventilatory support

4.1 POLICIES



SUBJECT: TRAUMA TRIAGE REFERENCE NO. 506 
 

PAGE 2 OF 5 

C. Cardiopulmonary arrest with penetrating torso trauma unless based upon the 
paramedic’s thorough assessment is found apneic, pulseless, asystolic, and 
without pupillary reflexes upon arrival of EMS personnel at the scene 
 

D. All penetrating injuries to head, neck, torso, and extremities proximal to the elbow 
or knee 
 

E. Blunt head injury associated with a suspected skull fracture, altered level of 
consciousness (Glasgow Coma Score less than or equal to 14), seizures, 
unequal pupils, or focal neurological deficit 
 

F. Injury to the spinal column associated with acute sensory or motor deficit 
 

G. Blunt injury to chest with unstable chest wall (flail chest) 
 

H. Diffuse abdominal tenderness 
 

I. Suspected pelvic fracture (excluding isolated hip fracture from a ground level fall) 
 

J. Extremity with: 
 

1. Neurological/vascular compromise and/or crushed, degloved, or mangled 
extremity 

 
2. Amputation proximal to the wrist or ankle 
 
3. Fractures of two or more proximal (humerus/femur) long-bones 
 
4. Bleeding not controlled by direct pressure requiring the usage of a 

hemorrhage control tourniquet or hemostatic agent (approved provider 
agencies only)  

 
K. Falls: 

 
1. Adult patients from heights greater than 15 feet 
 
2. Pediatric patients from heights greater than 10 feet, or greater than 3 times 

the height of the child 
 

L. Passenger space intrusion of greater than 12 inches into an occupied passenger 
space 
 

M. Ejected from vehicles (partial or complete) 
 

N. Auto versus pedestrian/bicyclist/motorcyclist thrown, run over, or with significant 
(greater than 20 mph) impact 
 

O. Unenclosed transport crash with significant (greater than 20 mph) impact 
 



SUBJECT: TRAUMA TRIAGE REFERENCE NO. 506 
 

PAGE 3 OF 5 

P. Major / Critical Burn (excluding those in which the MAR is a recognized Burn 
Center, e.g., LAC+USC Medical Center, Torrance Memorial Medical Center, 
West Hills Hospital): 

 
1. Patients 15 years of age or older with 2nd (partial thickness) and 3rd (full 

thickness) degree burns involving equal to or greater than 20% Total Body 
Surface Area (TBSA) 
 

2. Patients ≤ 14 years of age with 2nd (partial thickness) and 3rd (full thickness) 
degree burns involving equal to or greater than 10% TBSA 

 
II. Trauma Guidelines – Mechanism of injury and patient history are the most effective 

methods of selecting critically injured patients before unstable vital signs develop. 
Paramedics and base hospital personnel should consider mechanism of injury and 
patient history when determining patient destination. At the discretion of the base 
hospital, transportation to a trauma center is advisable for: 
 
A. Passenger space intrusion of greater than 18 inches into any unoccupied 

passenger space 
 

B. Automobile versus pedestrian/bicyclist/motorcyclist (impact equal to or less than 
20 mph) 
 

C. Injured victims of vehicular crashes in which a fatality occurred in the same 
vehicle 
 

D. Patients requiring extrication 
 

E. Vehicle telemetry data consistent with high risk of injury 
 

F. Injured patients (excluding isolated minor extremity injuries): 
 

1. on anticoagulation therapy, other than aspirin-only 
 
2. with bleeding disorders 

 
III. Special Considerations – Consider transporting injured patients with the following to a 

trauma center: 
 
A. Patients in blunt traumatic full arrest who, based on a paramedic’s thorough 

patient assessment, was not found apneic, pulseless, and without organized ECG 
activity (narrow complex supraventricular rhythm) upon the arrival of EMS 
personnel at the scene 
 

B. Adults age greater than 55 years 
 

C. Systolic blood pressure less than 110 mmHg may represent shock after age 65 
years 

 
D. Pregnancy greater than 20 weeks gestation 

 



SUBJECT: TRAUMA TRIAGE REFERENCE NO. 506 
 

PAGE 4 OF 5 

E. Prehospital judgment 
 

IV. Extremis Patients - Requires immediate transportation to the MAR: 
 
A. Patients with an obstructed airway or those with concern for imminent airway 

obstruction due to inhalation injury 
 

B. Patients, as determined by the base hospital personnel, whose lives would be 
jeopardized by transportation to any destination but the MAR 
 

V. When, for whatever reason, base hospital contact cannot be made, the destination 
decision for injured patients will be made by paramedics using the principles set forth 
above. 
 

VI. 9-1-1 Trauma Re-Triage – This section applies to injured patients in emergency 
departments of non-trauma centers whose injuries were initially estimated by EMS to be 
less serious (under triaged) or patients who self-transported (walk-in) to a non-trauma 
center, and subsequently assessed by the non-trauma center physician to require 
immediate trauma center care. The referring facility shall utilize the procedure outlined 
below to expedite transfer arrangements and rapid transport to the trauma center. This 
process should be reserved for patients with life-threatening traumatic injuries requiring 
emergent surgical intervention. 
 
A. Determine if the injured patient meets any of the following 9-1-1 Trauma Re-

Triage criteria: 
 
1. Persistent signs of poor perfusion 

 
2. Need for immediate blood replacement therapy 

 
3. Intubation required 

 
4. Glasgow Coma Score less than 9 

 
5. Glasgow Coma Score deteriorating by 2 or more points during 

observation 
 

6. Penetrating injuries to head, neck and torso 
 

7. Extremity injury with neurovascular compromise or loss of pulses 
 

8. Patients, who in the judgement of the evaluating emergency physician, 
have high likelihood of requiring emergent life- or limb-saving intervention 
within two (2) hours. 
 

B. Contact the designated receiving trauma center or pediatric trauma center if the 
patient is less than or equal to 14 years of age and transport does not exceed 30 
min. Do not delay transfer by initiating any diagnostic procedures that do not 
have direct impact on immediate resuscitative measures. 
 



SUBJECT: TRAUMA TRIAGE REFERENCE NO. 506 
 

PAGE 5 OF 5 

C. Contact 9-1-1 for transportation. The paramedic scope of practice (Ref. No. 803) 
does not include paralyzing agents and blood products. 

 
D. Prepare patient and available medical records for immediate transport. Do not 

delay transport for medical records which could be sent at a later time. 
 
CROSS REFERENCE: 
 
Prehospital Care Manual: 
Ref. No. 501, Hospital Directory 
Ref. No. 502, Patient Destination 
Ref. No. 503, Guidelines for Hospitals Requesting Diversion of ALS Units 
Ref. No. 504, Trauma Patient Destination 
Ref. No. 506.1 Trauma Triage Decision Scheme 
Ref. No. 506.2 9-1-1 Trauma Re-Triage 
Ref. No. 510, Pediatric Patient Destination 
Ref. No. 803, Paramedic Scope of Practice 
Ref. No. 814, Determination/Pronouncement of Death in the Field 



POLICY REVIEW – SUMMARY BY COMMITTEE ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
Reference No. 506.2, 9-1-1 Trauma Re-Triage  (New Policy) 
 

 
 

 
Committee/Group 

 
Date 

Assigned 

 
Approval Date 

 
Comments* 

(Y if yes) 

 EM
S AD

VISO
R

Y C
O

M
M

ITTEES 
   

Provider Agency Advisory 
Committee 

   

 
Base Hospital Advisory 
Committee 

   

 
Data Advisory  
Committee 

   

 
Education Advisory 
Committee 

   

 O
TH

ER
 C

O
M

M
ITTEES/R

ESO
U

R
C

ES 
  

Medical Council    
 
Trauma Hospital Advisory 
Committee 

01/22/2020 01/22/2020 No 

 
Ambulance Advisory 
Board 

   

 
EMS QI Committee    
 
Hospital Association of So 
California 

   

 
County Counsel 
 

   

 
Other:     
 
 
 

   

* See Summary of Comments (Attachment B) 



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

(HOSPITAL, PARAMEDIC, MICN) 
SUBJECT: 9-1-1 TRAUMA RE-TRIAGE REFERENCE NO. 506.2 

EFFECTIVE: 07-01-16  DRAFT PAGE 1 OF 1 
REVISED: XX-XX-XX 
SUPERSEDES: 07-01-16 

STEP 1 

Determine if patient meets 9-1-1 Trauma Re-triage Criteria: 

Perfusion: 
 Persistent signs of poor perfusion
 Need for immediate blood replacement therapy

Respiratory Criteria: 
 Intubation required

GCS / Neurologic Criteria: 
 GCS <9
 GCS deteriorating by 2 or more during observation

Anatomic Criteria: 
 Penetrating injuries to head, neck, chest, or abdomen
 Extremity injury with neurovascular compromise or loss of pulses

Provider Judgment: 
 Patients, who in the judgment of the evaluating emergency physician, have

a high likelihood of requiring emergent life- or limb-saving intervention
within 2 hours

STEP 2 

Contact the designated Trauma Center for 
a “9-1-1 Trauma Re-triage” 

Do NOT delay transport by initiating any 
diagnostic procedure that do not have direct 
impact on immediate resuscitative measures 

Designated Trauma Center: 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX 

Contact Number: 
999.999.9999 

Notify: 
Transfer Center / Trauma Surgeon / 
Emergency Physician 

STEP 3 

Contact 9-1-1 for transportation 

Standard Paramedic Scope does NOT 
include paralyzing agents, blood products. 

STEP 4 

Prepare patient, diagnostic imaging, and 
paperwork (to include initial EMS Report 

Form if applicable) for immediate transport 

9-1-1 Trauma Re-triage:  The movement of patients meeting specific high-acuity criteria
from a non-trauma center to a trauma center for trauma care.

Trauma Transfer:  The movement of other trauma patients to a trauma center that do not 
meet 9-1-1 Emergency Trauma Re-triage criteria. 

4.2 POLICIES



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
                (HOSPITAL) 
SUBJECT: 9-1-1 RECEIVING HOSPITAL REQUIREMENTS    REFERENCE NO. 302 
 

 
EFFECTIVE:  2-15-10  PAGE 1 OF 4 
REVISED:  10-01-17 
SUPERSEDES:  12-01-13 
 
APPROVED:  ______________________    _________________________________ 
 Director, EMS Agency   Medical Director, EMS Agency 

PURPOSE: To outline the guidelines to be approved as a 9-1-1 receiving hospital. 
 
AUTHORITY: Health & Safety Code 1797.88, 1798.175(a)(1)(2) 
 
DEFINITIONS: 
 
9-1-1 Receiving Hospital: A licensed, general acute care hospital with a permit for basic or 
comprehensive emergency medicine service and approved by the Los Angeles County EMS 
Agency to receive patients with emergency medical conditions from the 9-1-1 system. 
 
PRINCIPLES: 
 
1. Patients who call 9-1-1 receive optimal care when transported to a facility that is staffed, 

equipped and prepared to administer emergency medical care appropriate to their 
needs. 
 

2. Emergency departments equipped with the communications required of 9-1-1 receiving 
facilities drill regularly with other system participants and can communicate effectively 
during multi-casualty incidents and disasters. 
 

3. Data collection and evaluation is critical to assess system performance and evaluate for 
educational and improvement needs.   

 
POLICY: 
 
I. Procedure for Approval to be a 9-1-1 Receiving Hospital 
 

A. Submit a written request to the Director of the Emergency Medical Services 
(EMS) Agency to include: 

 
1. The rationale for the request to be a 9-1-1 receiving hospital. 
 
2. A document verifying the hospital has a permit for basic or 

comprehensive emergency medical service. 
 
3. The proposed date the emergency department (ED) would open to 9-1-1 

traffic. 
 

B. Communications 
 

1. All 9-1-1 Receiving Hospitals in Los Angeles County are required to: 
 

a.   Have an operational ReddiNet terminal with redundant   
  connectivity via satellite and internet. 

 

e527421
Typewritten Text
5.3 BUSINESS (OLD)

e527421
Typewritten Text

e527421
Typewritten Text



SUBJECT: 9-1-1 RECEIVING HOSPITAL REQUIREMENTS REFERENCE NO. 302 
  

           PAGE 2 OF 4 
 

b. Collaboration with provider agencies, to provide and maintain a  
  printer capable of printing electronic records received from   
  prehospital care providers, when applicable.  
 
2. Install VMED28 for communication with paramedic providers and the 

Medical Alert Center  during multiple casualty incidents. 
 
3. Install a dedicated telephone line to facilitate direct communication with 

the paramedic base hospitals, 9-1-1  personnel, and the Medical Alert 
Center. 

 
C. Site Visit 

 
1. Once all required communication systems are installed and hospital staff 

training on the equipment is complete, the EMS Agency will coordinate a 
site visit. 
 

2. Administrative and field personnel from local EMS provider agencies will 
be invited to exchange contact information, participate in the VMED28 
and the ReddiNet system tests, and become familiar with the physical 
layout of the facility. 

 
3. Representatives from the nearest base hospital (Administrative, Medical 

Director and/or Prehospital Care Coordinator) will provide contact 
information, explain the role and function of the paramedic base, and 
discuss how patient information is communicated to the surrounding 9-1-1 
receiving hospitals.   

 
D. Transfer Policies 
 

1. All 9-1-1 Receiving Hospitals in Los Angeles County are required to 
develop and submit to the EMS Agency for approval an interfacility 
transfer policy that addresses the following:  

 
a. Compliance with Title XXII transfer requirements and EMTALA 

 
b. Utilization of appropriate transport modality, specifically when to 

contact private ambulance companies and what situations warrant 
appropriate use of the 9-1-1 system [e.g., 9- 1-1 Trauma Re-
Triage (Ref. No. 506) and confirmed STEMI patient (Ref. No. 
513.1)].  The jurisdictional 9-1-1 provider may only be contacted if 
the estimated time of arrival of a private ambulance is delayed and 
the condition of the patient suggests that there is an acute threat 
to life or limb that warrants an immediate response and transport.  
Patient destination will then be determined as outlined in the 
applicable patient destination policy. 

 
c. A mechanism shall be implemented to ensure that each transfer 

on which 9-1-1 was used is reviewed for appropriateness, and 
correction measures are taken when problems and issues arise to 
prevent future similar problems from occurring. 



SUBJECT: 9-1-1 RECEIVING HOSPITAL REQUIREMENTS REFERENCE NO. 302 
  

           PAGE 3 OF 4 
 

 
d. A tracking mechanism to capture all transfers utilizing the 9-1-1 

system and document the results of the review 
 
5. EMS Agency role at the site visit: 
 

a. Conduct ReddiNet drills and VMED28 tests 
 

b. Explain the role of the Medical Alert Center and provide contact 
information 

 
c. Discuss disaster preparedness activities 
 
d. Review the Prehospital Care Policy Manual, Medical Control 

Guidelines, Treatment Protocols and other relevant materials: 
 i. Ref. No. 502, Patient Destination 
 ii. Ref. No. 503, Guidelines for Hospitals Requesting 

 Diversion of ALS Patients 
iii. Ref. No. 620.1, Notification of Personnel Change 
iv. EMS Agency staff contacts 
v. Base hospital/receiving hospital contacts 
vi. EMS Agency meeting calendar 
vii. Situation Report/Problem resolution 
viii. EmergiPress 
 

II. Responsibilities: the 9-1-1 Receiving Hospital shall: 
 
A. Maintain communication requirements listed in Section I.B. of this policy 

 
B. Attend EMS Agency sponsored meetings for 9-1-1 Receiving Hospitals to stay 

current with EMS practice, policy and equipment. 
 

C. Provide updated contact information to the base hospital and the EMS Agency 
whenever there is a change in key personnel. 

 
D. Maintain an accurate list of hospital services and contact information in the 

ReddiNet for disaster and MCI purposes 
 
E. Collect and submit data to the EMS Agency on patients transported via the 9-1-1 

system by 2018.  Data submission requirements will be defined in Ref. No. 610, 
9-1-1 Receiving Hospital Data Dictionary. 

 
F. Implement measures to ensure compliance with Section I.D of this policy. 
 

  
CROSS REFERENCES: 
 
Prehospital Care Manual: 
Reference No. 304, Role of the Base Hospital 
Reference No. 503, Guidelines for Hospitals Requesting Diversion of ALS Patients 



SUBJECT: 9-1-1 RECEIVING HOSPITAL REQUIREMENTS REFERENCE NO. 302 
  

           PAGE 4 OF 4 
 

Reference No. 503.1, Hospital Diversion Request Requirements for Emergency 
Department Saturation 

Reference No. 506, Trauma Triage 
Reference No. 610, 9-1-1 Receiving Hospital Data Dictionary 
Reference No. 621, Notification of Personnel Change 
Reference No. 621.1, Notification of Personnel Change Form 
Reference No. 513.1, Emergency Department Interfacility Transport of Patients with ST-

Elevation Myocardial Infarction 


	0.1 Agenda 05.20.2020-Final
	001.0 EMSC Minutes 1.15.20-Final
	Commission Liaison
	Richard Tadeo
	Kay Fruhwirth
	LAC Police Chiefs’ Assn.
	Natalia Alvarez
	Saranya Srinivasan
	☒  Joseph Salas 

	01.0 Agenda.03.18.2020.Cancelled
	2.1 Correspondence 01.02.20
	2.2 Correspondence 01.07.20
	2.3 Correspondence 01.07.20 St. Vincent
	2.4 Correspondence 01.08.20 AutoPulse
	2.5 Correspondence 10.08.20 Fentanyl
	2.6 Correspondence 01.08.20 Intraosseous
	2.7 Correspondence 01.08.20 TCP
	2.8 Correspondence 01.09.20 Closure of St.Vincent
	2.9 Correspondence 01.13.20 St.Vincent
	2.10 Correspondence 01.14.20 Prehospital
	2.11 Correspondence 01.19.20 Tom McGinnis
	2.12 Correspondence 01.23.20 King LTS Ambu-MH
	2.13 Correspondence 01.23.20 King LTS PRN-RF
	2.14 Correspondence 02.06.20 Delay Antelope V
	2.15 Correspondence 02.06.20 Delay Palmdale
	2.16 Corresponence 02.13.20 King LTS MC
	2.17 Correspondence 02.28.20 Telemedicine
	2.18 Correspondence 03.03.20 Sidewalk CPR
	2.19 Correspondence 03.05.20 AutoPulse
	2.20 Correspondence 03.05.20 Intraosseous
	2.21 Correspondence 03.10.20 CPAP
	2.22 Correspondence 03.10.20 King LTS PS
	2.23 CORRESPONDENCE 03.12.20 Ltr Frm Co.Counsel to St. Vincent
	2.24 Correspondence 03.19.20 Screening
	2.25 Correspondence 03.19.20 Trauma
	2.26 Correspondence 03.23.20 Telehealth Pilot
	2.27 Correspondence 03.31.20 USNS Mercy
	2.28 Correspondence 04.01.20 SART
	2.29 Correspondence 04.02.20 Process .. COVID
	2.30 Correspondence 04.03.20 EMT Local
	2.31 Correspondence 04.06.20 COVID 19 Update 7
	2.32 Correspondence 04.07.20 HydroxyChloroquine (2)
	2.33 Correspondence 04.07.20 COVID 19 Update8
	2.34 Correspondence 04.07.20 TCP Distribution
	2.35 Correspondence 04.08.20 fr EMSA Maddy Fund ext
	3.1 Committee Reports - Base Hospital Minutes
	2-BHAC Meeting Minutes February 12, 2020
	Attachment 1
	ECMO Field Protocol 1-14-20
	Patient Flow for ECMO Study Entry 1-14-20


	3.2 Committee Reports - DAC Meeting Dark 4-8-20 (002)
	3.3 Committee Reports PAAC Minutes 2020.02. FINAL (002)
	4.1 POLICIES 506 Trauma Triage 04-01-2020 DRAFT
	PRINCIPLES:
	POLICY:
	CROSS REFERENCE:
	Prehospital Care Manual:
	Ref. No. 501, Hospital Directory
	Ref. No. 503, Guidelines for Hospitals Requesting Diversion of ALS Units
	Ref. No. 504, Trauma Patient Destination
	Ref. No. 506.1 Trauma Triage Decision Scheme
	Ref. No. 506.2 9-1-1 Trauma Re-Triage
	Ref. No. 510, Pediatric Patient Destination
	Ref. No. 803, Paramedic Scope of Practice
	Ref. No. 814, Determination/Pronouncement of Death in the Field

	4.2 POLICIES 506.2 9-1-1 Trauma Re-triage Attachment A
	Reference No. 506.2, 9-1-1 Trauma Re-Triage  (New Policy)

	4.2 POLICIES 506.2 9-1-1 Trauma Re-Triage DRAFT
	5.3 Business Old 302 - 911 Receiving 20171001 signed



